



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT FOR NATURE-BASED SOLUTIONS

A COLLABORATIVE APPROACH FOR CLIMATE ADAPTATION AT THE URBAN ENVIRONMENT



Master Thesis Faculty of Spatial Sciences Maria Anastasopoulou S4100077 17.08.2023 **Title**: Stakeholder Engagement: A collaborative approach for climate adaptation at the urban environment

Case Study: Dakpark (Rotterdam)

Author: Maria Anastasopoulou

S4100077

m.anastasopoulou.1@student.rug.nl

Master Program: Environmental and Infrastructure Planning

Faculty of Spatial Sciences

University of Groningen

Supervisor: Msc. C. Theron

Abstract

Nature-based solutions have lately received considerable attention from scientists who focus on climate change. They can prove beneficial for flood resilience by contributing to sustainable water management, natural water retention, floodplain restoration, and biodiversity conservation. They are more sustainable & cost-effective than traditional engineering solutions. Despite their application for a variety of purposes, there is still a lack of understanding of the influence of stakeholder engagement in their design and implementation process.

The purpose of this study is to contribute to the understanding of the role of stakeholders in planning processes, in particular the design of nature-based solutions, focusing on flood resilience in urban areas. The research is supported by the study of the Dakpark Project (Rotterdam), a communitybased initiative, that addresses climate change effects, including flood resilience and aims at enhancing inclusiveness and public participation. Foundation for this study is the theory of collaborative planning.

The aim of this study is to explore the potential of stakeholder engagement on NBS projects, based on the concept of collaborative planning. Literature review, interviews, and site visits are analyzed to answer the main research question of "How stakeholder engagement in the design process of nature-based solutions, addressing flood resilience, can increase the acceptance of them among stakeholders?" Additionally, factors that can influence the process of collaborative planning and barriers are studied to provide room for future developments in the planning practice. This is qualitative research that focuses on the societal aspect of the planning practice and hopefully, its results will steer future planning approaches to make them more inclusive.

Keywords: *Climate change adaptation, flood resilience, nature-based solutions, stakeholder engagement, collaborative planning, public acceptance.*

Table of Contents

Abstract
Table of Contents4
List of Figures6
List of Tables6
List of Abbreviations
1. Introduction
1.1 Problem Statement9
1.1.1 Context of the research10
1.2 Research Objectives11
1.3 Research Questions12
1.4 Scientific & Societal Relevance12
1.5 Reading Guide14
2. Theoretical Framework
2.1 Collaborative Planning Theory15
2.2 Climate Change Adaptation and its Evolution in the Policy Arena17
2.3 Flood Resilience
2.3.1 What does Stakeholder Engagement mean for flood resilience?
2.4 Nature-Based Solutions21
2.4.1 NBS and Collaborative Planning23
2.4.2 Policy context in the EU and the Netherlands24
2.4.3 Knowledge Gap and the Relation to Stakeholder Engagement
2.5 Stakeholder Engagement
2.6 Public Acceptance of NBS28
2.6.1 How Stakeholder Engagement Fosters Public Acceptance
2.7 Conceptual Framework
3. Research Methodology
3.1 Research Strategy32
3.2 Data Collection & Analysis

3.3 Case Study	35
3.4 Ethical Considerations	36
4. Results	37
4.1 The driving forces: Stakeholder motivation in shaping NBS	37
4.2 Challenges for Stakeholder Engagement	39
4.3 Collaborative and shared decision-making	41
4.4 Stakeholder Engagement Impact	42
5.Discussion	44
5.1 Aligning Research Findings with Theoretical Constructions	44
5.2 Validating the Conceptual Framework	45
5.3 Answering the research questions & hypothesis	46
6. Conclusion	48
7. Reflection	49
References	50
Appendices	57
Appendix A	57
Interview Guide with external Designer of Dakpark	57
Interview Guide Volunteers	58
Interview Guide Designer/Landscape Architect of Dakpark (Gemeente Roterdam)	59
Appendix B	60
Coding Scheme	60
Appendix C	61
Interview the external designer of the Dakpark	61
Appendix D	73
Interview with Volunteers of the Dakpark	73
Appendix E	80
Interview with Landscape Architect B, designer of the Dakpark (Rotterdam Municipality)	80

List of Figures

Figure 1: Number of flood events during 1975-2015 Figure 2: Conceptual Model

List of Tables

Table 1: Examples of NBS applied at the neighborhood level for flood protection.

Table 2: Research strategies in relation to research questions.

Table 3: Overview of analyzed documents.

Table 4: Overview of Interviews

List of Abbreviations

BGI – Blue-Green Infrastructure

- CCA Climate Change Adaptation
- CRED Centre for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters
- CPT Collaborative Planning Theory
- EEA European Environment Agency
- EBA Ecosystem-Based Adaptation
- EC European Commision
- Eco-DRR Ecosystem-based Disaster Risk Reduction
- EU European Union
- FD Flood Directive
- FRM Flood Risk Management
- GI Green Infrastructure
- IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- IUCN International Union for Conservation of Nature & Natural Resources
- MFA Multiple Factorial Analysis
- NAS National Climate Adaptation Strategy
- NBS Nature-Based Solutions

- SDGs Sustainable Development Goals
- SuDs Sustainable Urban Drainage systems
- UNA Urban Nature Atlas
- WFD Water Framework Directive
- WHO World Health Organization
- WMO World Meteorological Organization
- WSUD Water-Sensitive Urban Design

1. Introduction

Urban environments are of special importance as they can be seen as mechanisms of sociocultural exchange, economic growth, and development and can offer better livelihoods. Half of the world's population resides in cities since 2017 and, according to United Nations (2020), 5 billion people are projected to live in cities by 2030, while the share of the population living in cities will continue to grow. Cities are currently coping with extreme weather events because of climate change. This includes floods, heat waves, droughts, windstorms, forest fires, and extreme precipitation, all of which typically have devastating impacts on urban settlements (IPCC,2022). As a result, basic services, human wellbeing, health, and the economy of urban areas are threatened by climate change effects (Ruangpan et al., 2020). Thus, there is an urgent necessity to find ways to cope with these challenges and to find the correct means to increase awareness among the public to build resilience and ensure sustainable development.

Goal 13, of the Sustainable Development Goals explicitly addresses the necessity to take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts. This means that urban settlements must increase their resilience & adaptive capacity to climate related hazards (e.g., floods), by integrating climate change measures into their national/local policies & by raising awareness on climate change adaptation among a diverse group of stakeholders (Doni et al., 2020). The discussion about climate change adaptation & ecosystem-based adaptation will mainly focus on Nature-based solutions (NBS), specifically addressing pluvial flooding. According to the European Commission NBS are "actions inspired by, supported by or copied from nature" (Pauleit, 2017).

Motivational factors for this study is the recent flood events that took place in Central Europe causing the loss of hundreds of lives and livestock, damage to infrastructure, destruction of crops, and disturbances in financial & commercial activities. In August 2021, floods occurred across Germany, Belgium & the Netherlands due to extreme precipitation of up to 200mm in the Eifel-Ardennes mountains (Germany) between 13-15 July, caused by an atmospheric low (named Bernd). Among the consequences of this flood event were inundated cities and villages, damaged or destroyed properties and infrastructure, injured and dead people, and lots of monetary and psychological costs (Lehmkuhl et al., 2022). According to Krammer & Ware (2021) the summer floods of 2021 cost over EU 46 billion.

Similarly, in October 2017 series of flash floods, named Storm Herwart, in combination with strong winds across Germany, Poland, and Czech Republic caused river overflows, and landslides resulting in major infrastructure and property damages. The rivers of Danube (Germany) and Vltava (Czech Republic) reached their highest level resulting in villages and towns evacuations, infrastructure and building damages, and widespread power outages. At least 11 people were killed, and many others were injured (Schumacher, 2017).

There are many more similar events around Europe, and according to projections by the IPCC (Seneviratne et al., 2021) and WHO (2013) the number of pluvial floodings will continue to rise in the future. Thus, this research is grounded in existing knowledge concerning NBS, collaborative planning approaches, and the relation of stakeholder engagement to NBS. By drawing on insights from available literature, and through the conduction of interviews, this research aims to contribute to the growing body of knowledge in the field of climate adaptation. It seeks to emphasize the importance of stakeholder engagement and the effects of collaboration on facilitating public acceptance and increasing flood resilience.

1.1 Problem Statement

Various studies have focused on potential collaborative approaches that address CCA, to increase flood resilience in urban areas. NBS has lately received great attention for its benefits to climate change but also to human wellbeing (Frantzeskaki,2019; Kabisch et al.,2016). According to Ferreira et al. (2020), NBS is considered a viable solution to climate change effects in European countries. Similarly, in a report by UNEP (2021) NBS is highlighted for its benefits on climate change and on aspects of human wellbeing, namely physical or mental health and recreation. Despite its growing popularity, the concept of NBS has still undiscovered aspects relevant to its application and successful implementation. One of these aspects that will be studied in the research is that of collaboration. In particular, the focus of the study will be the effect of collaborative planning among involved & affected stakeholders in the design of NBS. According to Ruangpan et al. (2020), there is a knowledge gap concerning stakeholder engagement in relation to the realization of NBS. Notably, there are no well-developed frameworks that effectively incorporate stakeholder participation in planning methods, implementing, and evaluating of co-benefits of NBS. The EEA (2021) addressed the need to engage diverse stakeholders in a collaborative design process of NBS to enhance the social acceptability of these solutions.

Authors from the academic world support that it would be beneficial for stakeholders to understand and support the benefits of NBS from a socio-environmental perspective to encourage participation as an approach to increase flood resilience (Pauleit et al.,2017). This is where the hypothesis of this research is based on. *If stakeholders are engaged in the design process of NBS,* addressing flood resilience, then their implementation will be accepted and supported by them, eventually leading to flood resilience. Ferreira et al. (2020) highlighted the importance of involving citizens, & stakeholders' perceptions & ideas in the creation of NBS. Based on this argument & on the knowledge gap that exists regarding the results of stakeholder engagement in the design of NBS, this thesis will examine the role of stakeholders in relation to the acceptance of NBS addressing flood resilience.

1.1.1 Context of the research

Rotterdam's Response to pluvial flooding

This research covers the geographical context of the city of Rotterdam, Netherlands. Dakpark, one of the largest roof parks in Europe, will be the case of this study since it is considered a good example of NBS with multiple functions (e.g., spatial renewal, urban development, community engagement), inspired and initiated by local communities. More detailed information regarding the case study will be given in the third chapter. The reason behind the selection of this case study is twofold. Firstly, by studying an already implemented project, the understanding and analysis of the results of stakeholder engagement in the design process and the level of acceptance of this project is facilitated. Secondly, the city of Rotterdam has recently faced several climate change and societal challenges, thus the municipality focuses on its sustainable development through innovative and collaborative approaches, encouraging and supporting community initiatives for the development of CCA-related projects (Rotterdam 2022). Rotterdam has adopted an integrated climate adaptation approach with a focus on land use and water management. Rotterdam's approach is characterized by a combination of water management, climate-proofing infrastructure, nature-based solutions, and collaborative governance. Its approach is laid down by Rotterdam Climate Proof (2008) and the Rotterdam Climate Change Adaptation Strategy (2013) (C40 CITIES, 2016). Rotterdam's Climate Change Adaptation Strategy (2013) is based on the following key components, each of them including specific measures.

 Outer-dike flood protection: Optimizing the protection provided by the Maeslant storm surge barrier, replacement of existing barrier or construction of a second barrier, making buildings flood-proof, flood-proof design of public areas, construction of floating communities, placing essential infrastructure (power stations) on higher ground, increasing risk awareness among inhabitants and businesses.

- 2. Inner-dike flood protection: Optimizing the Maeslant and Hollandsche IJssel storm surge barriers, reinforcing dikes, the addition of stretches of open water, green roofs, water squares, and water storage.
- 3. *Extreme rainfall*: focus on adaptive measures whereby the rainwater is captured, and drainage is delayed, removing paving, infiltrating vegetation, water squares, green & blue roofs, façade gardens, and construction of underground water storage.
- 4. *Drought*: Creation of extra surface of water, creation or expansion of lakes, canals, waterways, ditches, an increase of flora, removal of paving, construction of private rain gardens, façade gardens, bioswales, pavement planters, irrigation of plants and bushes, porous paving
- 5. *High temperatures*: Incorporate green in the city, increase heat stress awareness among citizens, remove paving, good management and extension of parks and greenbelts, green roofs, façade, and private gardens, incorporate highly reflective materials in public areas,

A key feature of Rotterdam's adaptation strategy is the development of public-private partnerships, and the involvement of various stakeholders to achieve its objectives for a climate-proof city (De URBANISTEN, 2013)

1.2 Research Objectives

Disastrous flood events require urgent action and holistic approaches based on CCA that aim at protecting societies in the long-term while simultaneously preserving biodiversity. Various studies represent the amount of attention that NBS has lately received for their potential applications and cobenefits regarding flood protection and EBA (EEA, 2021; Kumar et al.,2021; Neumann & Hack, 2022; Brears, 2020; Frantzeskaki, 2019).

However, the scientific literature about the function and benefits of NBS reveals a knowledge gap concerning the role of stakeholders during the decision-making and design of NBS interventions for flood resilience. There is yet limited knowledge regarding stakeholder engagement, their perspectivesinterests, and capacities (Brillinger et al., 2021). As a result, it is still unclear to what extent and how stakeholder engagement in the design process can influence, encourage, or delay the uptake of NBS in urban settlements. The main objective of this study is to determine the role of stakeholders in the conceptualization and realization of NBS for flood resilience. Additionally, this study aims to give insights into enabling or constraining features of public participation in NBS implementation. By synthesizing various bodies of literature alongside interviews, the aim of this study is to contribute to the academic knowledge concerning NBS for CCA at the local scale, collaborative planning, and participation by exploring the effect that stakeholder engagement has on public acceptance of NBS. This research is addressed to every stakeholder that can influence the process of EBA but can also be affected by it. These include urban planners, governmental bodies, cities, businesses, public/private organizations, residents, NGOs, scientists, and urban development experts. The results of this study can be valuable and useful to other municipalities, especially coastal areas that aim for approaches to increase their flood resilience. Moreover, research will add to the understanding of the interrelation of urban planning with the social perspective of the subject, namely the potential of stakeholder engagement, and how they can contribute to the overall sustainable development of an urban area. Finally, the research will shed light on the underlying causes of barriers to stakeholder engagement.

1.3 Research Questions

The research aim and objectives are supported by the following research question and sub-questions:

RQ: How does stakeholder engagement in the design process of nature-based solutions, addressing flood resilience, increase the acceptance of NBS among the stakeholders?

SRQ.1: Which motivations trigger stakeholder engagement in the design of NBS? SRQ.2: What are the challenges or barriers that can influence stakeholder engagement? SRQ.3: How do collaboration, communication, and shared decision-making enhance stakeholder acceptance of NBS?

1.4 Scientific & Societal Relevance

The impacts of anthropogenic climate change are already experienced and acknowledged by scholars (Milman & Jagannathan, 2017). Human society and natural ecosystems are constantly faced with extreme weather events, such as sea level rise, long-period droughts, floodings and increased precipitation (Wamsler et al., 2016).

A wide variety of publications is now focusing on the importance of NBS for CCA through ecosystem-based approaches, since there are connections to the benefits that natural solutions can provide to the environment, the economy & society (Geneletti & Zardo, 2026; Ruangpan et al., 2020). However, discussions around NBS, and therefore EBA approaches are controversial. According to Wamsler et al. (2016), EBA approaches could potentially provide optimal solutions to societal challenges. These challenges might include but are not limited to health, food security, well-being, migration, water security, cultural identity & other risks (World Bank, No Date).

Although EBA approaches might be beneficial for CCA, a crucial role in their implementation and effectiveness is played by "how" and "whom" they will be decided, designed, managed, and implemented. This is where stakeholder engagement becomes relevant and can hopefully lead to increased acceptance of NBS adopted by stakeholders. According to Choptiary et al. (2019) participatory outweighs other conventional approaches in the sense that it is cost-efficient, and can sufficiently address complex and multi-dimensional, dynamic issues, such as CCA. What is more, by involving various stakeholders in decision-making processes, knowledge is shared and there is a better understanding of the issues to be addressed. Additionally, ownership & responsibility for achieving a common goal is further enhanced. This will not only facilitate the implementation of NBS but will also increase the level of stakeholder acceptance.

Thus, the insights of this study aim to act as a guide for the various stakeholders involved (urban planners, NGOS, public/private authorities, governments) in the design of NBS aiming at CCA. Collaboration will lead to more improved communication among stakeholders which might result in more efficient climate adaptation.

1.5 Reading Guide

Chapter 1. The introduction includes the foundation of this study and an overview of the identified problem to be examined, supported by general facts and information that inspired this study. Research questions and the aim of the study are formulated, as well as the scientific and societal relevance of the study.

Chapter 2. The theoretical Framework provides the theoretical background of this study. Based on the literature review the main concepts of the study are defined and discussed to be combined and formulate a conceptual framework. Secondary related concepts are also discussed for a better understanding as well as gaps in the literature that guide the research aims are identified. Finally, the conceptual framework of this study is presented.

Chapter 3. Research Methodology presents the methodology of the study, research strategy, data collection and analysis techniques, ethical considerations, and includes a description of the case study.

Chapter 4. Research Results include the presentation of the research findings and empirical results. Findings from the case study are discussed in a comprehensive way to help answer the research questions.

Chapter 5. Discussion includes a reflection on the research results. Key findings are aligned with the theoretical framework and research questions and the hypothesis are answered.

Chapter 6. The conclusion summarizes the main findings, and provides closure to the overall investigation.

Chapter 7. Reflection discusses what went well and bad during the research process and what could have been done differently.

2. Theoretical Framework

Floods are of the oldest natural disasters that affect human and animal civilizations. Flood prone cities are constantly faced with climate change's effects such as sea level rise, storm surges and floods resulting from increase in precipitation patterns. The need for flood safety and prevention has been evident since ancient times. Despite the long history in flood defense based on engineering measures, approaches of FRM might vary based on geographical context and intensity of flood events. The growth in the number of flood events (CRED,2022) indicates a challenge for present FRM approaches, as traditional approaches may no longer be sufficient to protect communities and infrastructure from flood impacts. Researchers have already addressed the need to transition away from the conventional FRM which was particularly conducted in a top-down way, by only governmental bodies (Matczak & Hegger, 2020).

According to van der Brugge, Rotmans & Loorbach (2005) there has been a transition in water management since the 1970s towards more adaptive and participatory forms of FRM, but this is still an ongoing process. In response, there has been a growing emphasis on CCA through participatory approaches which have foundations on the CPT (Soderholm et al., 2018). In the next section CPT is explored. Additionally, relevant concepts of this study will be defined, analysed and related to each other, where applicable, in order to move closer to the answers to the research questions.

2.1 Collaborative Planning Theory

CPT was introduced during the 1970s. It emerged as a response to the limitations of top-down, expert-driven planning approaches that were criticized by scholars for their effectiveness in FRM (Matczak & Hegger, 2020; Ansell & Gash,2008). The theory has been widely adopted in the field of planning and emphasizes the importance of stakeholder collaboration to address shared concerns and employ methods such as consensus building and public participation during decision-making (Purbani,2017; Koutsovili, 2023). It aims to enhance stakeholder engagement in decision-making processes and to achieve equitable power distribution among them (Mercurio,2019).

The foundations were built upon the works of various scholars of the 20th century and were associated with the idea of communicative and collaborative rationale. Godschalk & Mills were among the first theorists that promoted a collaborative approach to planning. They supported the idea that effective planning must be based on a two-way communication flow between the public and the planning agency. Later, Arnstein supported the meaningful role of the public in decision-making processes (Margerum, 2002). Professor Patsy Healey was another prominent contributor to the new paradigm. She based her work on the complexities of planning processes, and she promoted inclusive

decision-making by engaging various stakeholders. In her book "Collaborative Planning: Shaping Places in Fragmented Societies" (2006), she highlighted the limitations of traditional planning approaches that were top-down and failed to capture the diverse interests and perspectives of stakeholders. In contrast, although CPT is closely associated with Patsy Healey, CPT was also influenced by the work of Habermas on communicative action, which emphasizes the importance of rational discourse and mutual understanding in democratic decision-making (Allmendinger, 2017). Democratic decision-making refers to open and inclusive discussions among stakeholders where they are actively engaged in authentic argumentation (Purbani, 2017), and listen to other's perspectives to come to agreed solutions.

Similarly, Ansell & Gash supported inclusiveness and argued that face-to-face dialogues, trust building, and the development of commitment and shared understanding are necessary for inclusionary argumentation (Purbani, 2017). John Forester was among the scholars that advocated for a shift in planning practice towards more participatory and inclusive processes. He was another theorist that focused on the benefits of engaging diverse stakeholders in decision-making processes and creating discussion arenas for dialogue and deliberation. Furthermore, he explored the role of communication in collaborative planning. He highlighted the significance of effective communication among stakeholders to build trust, understand diverse perspectives, and find common ground. He argued that communication processes can shape planning outcomes and influence the distribution of power among stakeholders (Westin, 2022). Nevertheless, Forester acknowledged that power imbalances can exist among stakeholders, and these imbalances can affect the outcomes of collaborative processes (Allmendinger, 2017). He called for the recognition and mitigation of power asymmetries to ensure more equitable and inclusive planning processes. Overall, Forester's work has been influential in advancing the understanding and practice of collaborative planning. His research sheds light on the role of communication, power dynamics, and practical considerations in shaping inclusive and participatory planning processes.

CPT emerged as a response to the limitations of centralized planning, aiming to address complex urban challenges through inclusive decision-making processes and collaborative partnerships (Allmendinger & Tewdwr-Jones, 2002). It represents a paradigm shift that seeks consensus-building among stakeholders, promoting equal empowerment, shared information, and meaningful dialogue (Purbani, 2017). CPT is based on participatory approaches that foster trust, co-creation, and dialogue. It can be used as a basis for the development of adaptation strategies through collaborative networks, partnerships involving government, community organizations, and private sector actors. Examples include participatory forums, workshops, and public consultations prioritizing community engagement in urban design decision-making.

2.2 Climate Change Adaptation and its Evolution in the Policy Arena

Natural disasters, as an effect of climate, change put pressure on flood defense systems of urban settings worldwide. Various studies have addressed the impacts of pluvial floodings, caused by heavy precipitation, leading to monetary losses, affecting human health & well-being, and increasing ecosystems' vulnerability (IPCC,2022; ECDC,2021; Yin et al.,2016; Kryzanowski et al.,2013). According to a report by IUCN (Monty et al.,2017) a rise in flood occurrence is observed since the 1970s. As visible in Figure 1, the number of flood events almost quintupled in a period of 40 years, and it was the second in frequency of natural disasters among others. Translating that in monetary costs, floods accounted for almost EUR 108 billion, according to WMO (2021). More recent data (CRED,2022) reveal that floods were the second biggest disaster in terms of human impact per continent. However, floods have also a significant impact on the environment and the ecosystem, eventually leading to the loss of biodiversity, therefore urgen action is needed (Aldardasawi & Eren, 2021).



Figure 1 Number of Flood Events during 1975-2015 (Monty et al., 2017)

Recent studies criticize the conventional approaches to flood protection (Lavers, Berry & Booth, 2020; Schoeman, Allan & Finlayson, 2014; Ogie, Adam & Perez, 2013). Hard engineering measures aimed at controlling water flow are now considered insufficient, expensive, and potentially harmful to the ecosystem and biodiversity preservation. As a result, there is now increasing awareness of the need to adopt sustainable responses to flood protection that focus on adaptation. Although, there are studies that support the idea that better and more sustainable outcomes can be achieved with a

combination of mitigation and adaptation measures (Laukonnen et al., 2009). Adaptation can be beneficial for stakeholders and increase legitimacy in a planning process since the emphasis is given to local needs (Locatelli et al., 2011).

CCA has been around for centuries since communities have been always forced to adapt to changing climate conditions. However, in the world of modern environmental sciences, it was first conceptualized around the late 20th century. It was the IPCC that first used the term "climate change adaptation" in its report on climate change, in 1990 (IPCC, 1992). This report highlighted the importance of CCA in combination with mitigation measures that should be taken in order to minimize the risk of climate change effects and decrease the vulnerability of societies and ecosystems. CCA was defined by the IPCC (2014) as 'the process of adjustment to actual or expected climate change and its effects'. The report particularly called for coordinated research and stressed the importance of integration of the adaptation measures into development strategies of specific regions and sectors. Overall, the IPCC's first assessment report laid the groundwork for the modern concept of CCA as a necessary complement to mitigation efforts. The report recognized that climate change impacts were inevitable and that adaptation measures would be necessary to reduce the vulnerability of human societies and ecosystems.

For Europe, it was in the early 2000s that they started to pay attention to the concept of CCA and developed policies and strategies to address the impacts of climate change and increase its resilience to it. Following the steps of the IPCC, the EU issued a series of documents and studies for the development of policies to increase resilience to climate change in various sectors (EC, 2023). In 2009, the first climate adaptation policy of the EU was published, the so-called "White Paper on Adapting to Climate Change". Apart from guidance and support to the EU member states in their efforts to adapt to climate change effects highlighted the importance of global cooperation and coordination among the member states and stakeholders. It encouraged stakeholder engagement in the development and implementation of CCA measures and highlighted their role in generating information on climate impacts and vulnerabilities (EC, 2009). Since then, stakeholder engagement has been extensively mentioned in the EU's adaptation policies. The 2013 and 2018 EU Adaptation Strategies emphasized the importance of participatory approaches in the efforts of the member states to develop and implement adaptation solutions at all levels (EC, 2013; EC, 2018). In the latest EU climate adaptation strategy of 2021, the importance of stakeholder involvement and participation in decision-making processes is highlighted. The strategy proposes that different stakeholders from various sectors and levels of governance are involved during the development, implementation, and monitoring of CA policies. Furthermore, it supports more inclusive and participatory processes of decision-making by

involving marginalized or vulnerable groups. Another important aspect that is mentioned is the access to information and knowledge that stakeholders should have. This can be achieved by an open network among different sectors where dialogue and the exchange of best practices are facilitated. Finally, the strategy emphasizes the need for transparency and accountability in adaptation decision-making processes, and the importance of communicating the rationale behind adaptation policies and actions to stakeholders (EC, 2021).

Overall, stakeholder engagement has been a key element of the EU's climate adaptation policies. It has received a lot of attention in the last decades since there is the belief that it can improve the quality of decision-making processes, by increasing legitimacy and eventually increase the effectiveness and acceptance of the adaptation measures.

2.3 Flood Resilience

Europe has a long history of dealing with natural and man-made disasters, from floods and earthquakes to war, pandemics, economic, and recently energy crisis (Schramm & Wessels, 2023; Smetkowski & Dabrowski, 2019; EC, no date). The last decades have been challenging for the European countries which have been coping with sea level rise and extreme weather events (EEA,2017).

Previous research has highlighted the urgent need to deal with flood events (de Silva et al.,2020; Bertilsson, 2019; Laurien, 2020) and to develop flood management strategies that can handle future, severe flood events (Wang et al.,2022). It has been clearly stated that the conventional engineering approaches employed in the past for flood defense might not work for future protection against floods, since climate change will continue to cause unpredictable extreme weather events and natural disasters (Bloemen et al.,2018; Bertilsson et al., 2019). The rapid urbanization resulting in more impermeable surfaces and modified flow routes has increased flood events and the number of potential future risks. As stated in the environmental management literature, resilience is key to reducing vulnerability resulting from unpredictable events (Morisson et al., 2017).

The concept of *resilience* has a long history in academic literature. It is a well-studied and interdisciplinary topic that has received great attention worldwide (Laurien et al., 2020). Researchers and scientists from various fields (e.g., engineering, geography, social sciences) tried to define resilience since the 1060s (McAslan,2010; Alexander, 2013; Amirzadeh et al.,2022). The most used definition in the field of environmental studies is that by Davoudi (2012), who defined resilience as "the ability of social-ecological systems to change, adapt, and crucially, transform in response to stresses and strains". (p.302). After the concept's introduction into the field of environment and ecology, it has been widely

used by scholars in academic literature and policy documentation (Oulahen, 2019; National Research Council, 2010; UNISDR, 2017; IPCC, 2022). Scholars (Rybski & Gonzalez, 2022; Terblanche et al.,2022; Minati,2008) have considered cities as complex systems consisting of diverse interacting sub-systems and co-dependent elements and entities (e.g., people, infrastructure, nature, institutions). Restemeyer et al. (2015) in their effort to unravel flood resilience, gave three attributes to the concept. First. *robustness* refers to the ability of a city to withstand floods, mostly with the use of hard infrastructure (e.g., dikes, storm surge barriers). Second, *adaptability* is about the capacity of communities to adjust, respond and learn from flood events. This entails adjustments in the physical and built environment (e.g., elevating houses) to minimise damage in case of flood events. Third, transformability implies a city's capacity to undergo a transition from "fighting the water" to "living with the water". Although, the authors support that a crucial success factor of such a transition is the change in people's mentality.

2.3.1 What does Stakeholder Engagement mean for flood resilience?

Researchers often emphasize the significance of stakeholder engagement as a key component of effective flood resilience. Driessen et al. (2018) supported the development of public-private partnerships of stakeholders to increase cities' adaptive capacity and flood resilience. According to the authors, the diversity of stakeholders provides the necessary resources, input, and knowledge to develop efficient FRM approaches that lead to flood resilience. Additionally, the involvement of stakeholders in decision-making processes increases the legitimacy of measures and approaches and leads to public acceptance. Similarly, Matczak & Hegger (2021) emphasized the role of stakeholders in the development of flood resilience strategies. The authors supported the idea that stakeholder diversity results in more informed and effective decisions since they can share concerns, identify vulnerabilities, and propose context-specific solutions based on local knowledge. Stakeholder engagement enables education and increases awareness about flood risks resulting in increased response capacity and preparedness (Burnshide-Lawry & Carvalho, 2016).

Overall, stakeholder engagement in the academic discourse on flood resilience is recognized as a critical factor for developing inclusive, context-specific, and sustainable approaches to reduce the impacts of floods and enhance community resilience.

2.4 Nature-Based Solutions

Nature-based solutions (NBS) is a promising concept that was first introduced by the World Bank in 2008 (Swierkosz & Garcia, 2022). They are strategies that focus on land and ocean ecosystems protection, restoration, and management using nature and natural processes, while simultaneously addressing societal challenges (World Bank, 2021). NBS deliver sustainable solutions to human needs that can provide multiple benefits for the environment and economy as well.

Many authors have addressed the benefits of NBS for environmental and socio-economic challenges (Somarakis, Stagakis & Chrysoulakis, 2019; Xie & Bulkeley, 2020; Pauleit et al, 2017; Kabisch et al., 2017). The last report by the World Bank and the GFDR (Zanten et al., 2023) also highlighted a plethora of co-benefits that emerge from the implementation of NBS. In their effort to describe the concept and understand its dynamics within the urban environment, the EC defined NBS as "solutions that aim to help societies address a variety of environmental, social, and economic challenges in sustainable ways. They are actions inspired by, supported by, or copied from nature, both using and enhancing existing solutions to challenges as well as exploring more novel solutions. NBSs use the features and complex system processes of nature, such as its ability to store carbon and regulate water flows, to achieve desired outcomes, such as reduced disaster risk and an environment that improves human well-being and socially inclusive green growth" (EC,2015). Complementary to that definition IUCN described NBSs as "actions to protect, sustainably manage and restore natural and modified ecosystems that address societal challenges effectively and adaptively, simultaneously providing human well-being and biodiversity benefits" (Cohen-Shacham et al., 2016). They are considered an umbrella concept that encompasses approaches such as EBA, GI, BGI, ESS, SuDs, WSUDs, and Eco-DRR (Sowińska-Świerkosz & Garcia, 2022; Ruangpan et al., 2020; Pauleit et al., 2017). Although, this study particularly focuses on EBA approaches for practical reasons. EBA originated in 2009 and refers to "the use of biodiversity and ecosystem services as part of an overall adaptation strategy to help people to adapt to the adverse effects of climate change" (Geneletti & Zardo, 2016). EBA aims to reduce the vulnerability of communities to climate change and offer multiple benefits beyond climate adaptation, such as biodiversity conservation, climate mitigation, the livelihood of local communities, and recreation and tourism opportunities.

NBS are approaches that can be applied on different spatial scales and settings in and around cities. As these solutions are usually beyond sectoral boundaries, they might require cross-sectoral partnerships. Although, the context of this study is small-scale NBS at the neighborhood level. They can be structural, non-structural, or hybrid. Hybrid measures refer to interventions that can be used in

combination with other GI (engineering) measures such as dams, flood walls, levees, stormwater drainage systems, etc. (World Bank, 2021).

Examples include green walls, green roofs, pocket parks, urban farming, green corridors on the streets, open green spaces, terraces and slopes, green buildings, etc. Apart from reducing disaster risk and protecting urban settings from flooding, NBS can offer other co-benefits, such as an increase in urban resilience, food, and water security, restoration of biodiversity, opportunities for recreation, community well-being, aesthetic improvement, education, social cohesion, an increase of local/regional value, urban regeneration. (Somarakis, Stagakis,Chrysoulakis, 2019). Table 1 includes some examples of NBS and their benefits to climate adaptation that can be implemented in the urban environment, at the neighborhood scale. Specific hazards that can be regulated by the mentioned NBS are also addressed. The examples were chosen in relation to the case of this study, as Dakpark includes some of the measures included in the table.

Type of NBS	Flooding Regulation	Other Environmental Benefits	Co-Benefits
Urban Forests	Runoff reduction, Slow water flow, Wave height reduction	Water storage regulation, Affecting evapotranspiration, Recharging groundwater, Heat stress reduction, Shading, Stabilizing soil with root network	Tourism & Recreation, Carbon Storage, Human health, Enhancing biodiversity, Resource production,
Urban Parks Open Green Spaces Green Corridors	Water Storage, Water infiltration, Slow water flow	Affecting evapotranspiration, Shading, Stabilizing soil, Heat stress reduction	Tourism & recreation, Carbon Storage, Human health improvement, Benefiting local economies, job creation
Terraces & Slopes	Delay runoff, Runoff reduction, Water infiltration, Water storage Evapotranspirat Erosion control		Enhancing biodiversity, Food security, Tourism & recreation, Cultural,
Green Buildings	Water storage, Delay runoff, Runoff reduction,	Heat regulation, Shading, Cooling	Enhancing biodiversity, Air pollution

Table 1 Examples of NBS at the neighbourhood level for flood protection (SCORE, 2023; World Bank, 2021)

	Recycling rainwater, Reduction of peak stormwater load, Water infiltration	effect, drought regulation	regulation, Human health,
Green Roofs	Water storage, Recycling rainwater, Delay runoff, Runoff reduction, water infiltration	Heat regulation, Cooling effect, Heat stress reduction, Air quality, Absorption & reflection of solar radiation, Mitigate urban heat island effect,	Socioeconomic benefits, Human health, Food supply, Job opportunities, Recreation, Education, Enhancing biodiversity, Social interaction
Small Water bodies Ponds Lakes Bioswales Floodable parks	Water storage, Runoff reduction, Delay runoff, Mitigating peak water loads, Water infiltration	Heat regulation, Pollution regulation, Soil stabilization,	Carbon storage, Sequestration, Socioeconomic benefits, Job creation, Education, Enhancing biodiversity, Recreation,
Urban Farming	Water storage, Water infiltration, Runoff reduction, Water retention,	Heat stress regulation, Air quality, Soil stabilization,	Food supply, Food security, Job opportunities, Education, Recreation, Carbon storage, Human health, Social Interaction

2.4.1 NBS and Collaborative Planning

NBS and collaborative planning paradigm are closely connected as they both aim to address environmental challenges and promote sustainable development through participatory and inclusive approaches. Here are some key commonalities between the two concepts:

1. Shared Goals: Both NBS and CP share a common goal of promoting sustainable development and addressing environmental issues. They recognize the importance of integrating nature and the environment into decision-making processes to achieve long-term ecological, social, and economic benefits.

2. Participatory Approach: CP emphasizes involving diverse stakeholders, including government agencies, local communities, NGOs, and experts, in the decision-making process. Similarly, NBS recognizes the importance of engaging local communities, indigenous peoples, and

other stakeholders to ensure the design and implementation of nature-based solutions align with their needs and aspirations (Malekpour et al., 2021; Margerum, 2002; Frantzeskaki, 2019).

3. Integrated and Holistic Approach: CP and NBS encourage an integrated and holistic approach to problem-solving. CP aims to consider various perspectives, interests, and knowledge systems to develop comprehensive solutions. NBS also promotes the integration of ecological, social, and economic considerations to ensure that nature-based interventions deliver multiple benefits (Malekpour et al., 2017).

4. Co-creation and Co-design: CP involves co-creation and co-design processes where stakeholders actively contribute their knowledge and expertise to shape decisions and actions. Similarly, NBS emphasizes the co-design and co-development of nature-based interventions, recognizing that local knowledge and expertise are vital for effective and context-specific solutions (Morello et al., 2018; Radulescu et al., 2022; Bogatinoska et al., 2022).

5. Adaptive Management: Both NBS and CP recognize the need for adaptive management approaches. They emphasize ongoing monitoring, evaluation, and learning to ensure that implemented solutions are effective, and they can be adjusted based on new information or changing circumstances (Moreau et al., 2022).

By integrating NBS into CP processes, stakeholders can harness the power of nature to address environmental challenges more effectively and create sustainable solutions that benefit both people and the planet. The CP paradigm provides a framework for inclusive decision-making, while naturebased solutions offer a range of strategies that utilize and enhance ecosystem services to achieve sustainable development goals.

2.4.2 Policy context in the EU and the Netherlands

The EU has prioritized NBS research and innovation in its effort to support its policy agenda which consists of the European Green Deal, the biodiversity and climate adaptation strategy. Thus, the EC has funded and initiated the Horizon 2020 programme which consists of multiple research projects focused on tackling climate change, to achieve the UN's SDGs and boost the EU's growth (EC, N/D).

Due to the extreme vulnerability of the Netherlands to sea level rise, extreme weather events, and flooding (Jorissen, Kraaij & Tromp,2016), NBS have been already incorporated into the national and municipal climate adaptation policy framework. The following documents are considered relevant for this study since they contribute to the understanding of how flood resilience is addressed in the Netherlands.

• National Climate Adaptation Strategy of the Netherlands, (NAS):

This is the Dutch strategy for climate adaptation. Which was first published in 2016. The strategy is built upon the main climate risks that the Netherlands face and sets out the plans and actions required for risk reduction by 2050. The NAS desires to unite all parties and promotes participatory approaches for the development and implementation of climate adaptation measures. It recognizes the importance of collaboration between various stakeholders and policy domains, and the establishment of partnerships to facilitate knowledge sharing and collaboration. The NAS invites the government, public sector authorities (local-regional), academic institutes, private sectors, communities, societal organizations, and individuals to actively contribute to the development of measures against climate change through public consultations, workshops, and online platforms (Ministry of Infrastructure & Environment, 2016).

"Climate adaptation measures are not the responsibility of government alone: companies and individuals also have a part to play. Good communication and information about developments in policy and research will raise awareness and encourage action." (Ministry of Infrastructure & Environment, 2016, p.31)

Rotterdam Climate Change Adaptation Strategy:

The Rotterdam adaptation strategy is an answer to the increasing vulnerability of the city due to climate change and extreme weather events. Since it is a delta city, the municipality developed a set of plans for the development of adaptation measures to increase its resilience against climate change impacts. A combination of mitigation and adaptation approaches is suggested under the development of partnerships between the public and private sectors. The strategy highlights the sense of joint responsibility and the importance of public participation in the development and implementation of adaptation measures. A crucial factor of stakeholder engagement is good communication and information sharing that lead to increased awareness of the adaptation measures, facilitating their speed up and uptake by individuals. According to the strategy, climate change adaptation is both a top-down and bottom-up process (DE URBANISTEN,2013). Under the strategy's guidelines, the regional authorities need to become active facilitators and supporters of community initiatives for

small-scale measures (e.g., green roofs) that contribute to the city's climate resilience. Citizens and businesses are called to play an active role in these plans.

"Small-scale adaptive measures throughout the 'veins' of the city provide opportunities for active participation and lead to broader cooperation between the regional authorities and other parties." (DE URBANISTEN, 2013, p.26)

2.4.3 Knowledge Gap and the Relation to Stakeholder Engagement

While there is a growing emergence of research and studies about NBS, there are still some knowledge gaps, including stakeholders' awareness of NBS benefits for their daily life (network nature,2021). This lack of awareness is enhanced by the fact that there is difficulty in identifying appropriate indicators and metrics to measure the social-ecological effectiveness of NBS (Seddon et al., 2020). Ruangpan et al. (2020) in their study referred to knowledge gaps that exist concerning stakeholder engagement. They highlighted challenges in incorporating stakeholder participation within the assessment and implementation process of NBS. Furthermore, the authors referred to difficulties relating to governance and the provision of information to the actors. Similarly, Lupp et al. (2021) referred to unsupportive governance frameworks and a lack of inter-sectoral communication and information sharing that halt the implementation process of NBS. They proposed more participative approaches for NBS implementation to increase the interest among stakeholders and enhance the feeling of co-ownership, thus acceptance.

2.5 Stakeholder Engagement

In the quest for sustainable and flood-resilient cities, stakeholder engagement cannot be neglected for its benefits. Considering the complexity of urban environments and their ever-evolving nature, they require integrated planning approaches that involve multiple stakeholders, including local communities, individuals, government agencies, non-profit organizations, and private enterprises. CP has emerged in the context of ecosystem management as a powerful tool for empowering communities and fostering inclusive decision-making processes (Spyra et al., 2019). Successful sustainable development of cities and ecosystems can be achieved by cross-sectoral communication and the involvement of various stakeholders in decision-making processes (Arlati et al., 2021). It is globally promoted as a democratic process that supports decentralized environmental and natural resources

management, by recognizing the inherent knowledge, experiences, and aspirations of diverse stakeholders (Fagerholm et al., 2019).

For a better understanding of stakeholder engagement, it is essential to define and categorize stakeholders upon their power and the influence they can have on the decision-making process of a planning project (Bogatinoska et al.,2022; Etxebarria et al., 2022). The stakeholder was originally defined and conceptualized by Dr R. Edward Freeman, who is credited with the development of the "Stakeholder Theory" (Silvius & Schipper, 2019). He defined a stakeholder as any individual, a group of people, or an organization that can affect or get affected by the achievement of the organization's objectives (Zhuang et al., 2019). Based on this definition, the authors refer to stakeholders as those involved in the decision-making process of a planning issue. They participate and can influence the decision-making process and depending on the decision results their interests are positively or negatively affected. Similarly, Bogatinoska et al. (2022) referred to stakeholders as "individuals, groups, and organizations who are affected by or can affect the design, implementation, and evaluation of measures in their catchment.

In the context of this study, stakeholders are considered individuals and groups of people, private businesses, NGOs, or local organizations that have a common interest in identifying, designing, and implementing NBS at the neighborhood level to increase flood resilience. Based on the stakeholder mapping framework of Zingraff-Hamed et al. (2019) stakeholders are divided into two categories, those with regulatory power (primary stakeholders), who can formulate decisions, and those who can only influence decisions but do not have the power and authority to make decisions. Thus, primary stakeholders include government agencies (e.g., ministries, municipalities), environmental agencies, building and construction authorities, and water boards. Secondary stakeholders include residents, NGOs, business and industry associations, academic institutes, media, and community-based organizations. According to Zingraff-Hamed et al. (2019), public authorities are those most associated with the role of coordinators. (e.g., planning staff, water agencies) and often acted as "decisionmakers". Although positive research findings highlight the involvement of civil society in the design of NBS. The importance of stakeholders' role in decision-making for NBS implementation is gaining more and more acceptance by academics and environmental organizations (Brill, Carlin. McNeeley, 2022; Mok et al., 2021). Involving stakeholders in partnerships and collaborative planning practices increases the chances of acceptance, however, it is crucial for the efficiency of the planning process to identify the most relevant stakeholders (Zingraff-Hamed et al, 2019; Etxebarria et al., 2022).

A critical factor for stakeholder identification and selection is diversity (Etxebarria et al., 2022). Diversity in this context means stakeholders with different ages, ethnicity, cultural ethics and principles, gender, religious and political orientations. The authors support that diversity among stakeholders will provide a plethora of perceptions shaped by their interests, needs, and values. As a result, a broad spectrum of viable NBS can be developed. Among other benefits of diversity and the mutual exchange of perspectives is increased legitimacy and credibility of the decision-making process. The feeling of co-ownership, co-creation, and co-design can be enhanced, and therefore increase equity and inclusivity in NBS (Brill et al., 2022).

2.6 Public Acceptance of NBS

Public acceptance of NBS is a subject that has recently gained attention in the academic discourse. It refers to the degree to which the public or stakeholders support and are willing to adopt and implement these approaches. According to scholars, it plays a crucial role in the successful implementation of NBS and their long-term effectiveness. It can also lead to NBS upscale and repetition (Anderson & Renaud, 2021; Giordano et al., 2020), however, there is still hesitation about their implementation in places where stakeholders are not familiar with the concept of NBS, and policymakers have not invested time to promote them (Bernello et al., 2022). Public acceptance is often discussed in terms of individuals' motivations and the extent to which they support these adaptation measures. According to Bernello et al. (2022), the optimal location for positioning NBS is at the source of runoff. In urban areas, this translates to installing NBS near buildings, and impervious surfaces. This means that NBS will be located on or close to private properties, therefore property owners' perceptions may hinder their implementation. Scholars have focused on studying the attitudes, beliefs, and values of individuals and various stakeholders concerning flood risk, nature, and places in their attempt to investigate motivational factors toward the design and uptake of NBS.

2.6.1 How Stakeholder Engagement Fosters Public Acceptance

Stakeholder engagement has a strong relation to the recognition and acceptance of NBS (Frantzeskaki, 2019). According to the author, NBS require collaborative governance approaches. Different actors can create inclusive designs of NBS under collaborative design approaches to deliver sustainability and flood resilience.

There are various influence factors under which public acceptance can be influenced and facilitated. They can be distinguished between those related to the measures and those dependent on the individuals. The first category includes the *benefits and trade-offs* of the measure. These are among the most influential factors of public acceptance. They refer to the perceived function of the measure as well as any co-benefits. If the public believes that NBS can beneficially address environmental and social challenges, then they are most likely to support them (Giordani et al., 2020). Second, the *effectiveness* of measures for risk reduction is also a crucial factor of influence (Anderson & Renaud, 2021). The overall *costs and funding* of the measure's implementation is another important factor (Beery, 2018). Findings have shown that if the implementation and maintenance costs are cheap and if financial assistance is provided to individuals, then it is more likely that they will support their uptake (Bernello et al., 2022).

In terms of individuals' perceptions, the most influential factor is the degree of perceived natural hazard. This may translate to feelings of threat, fear of danger, or concern for disastrous consequences. Past experiences with flood events may contribute to this factor. Next, follows awareness and understanding of the measure to be implemented. The more informed and aware of the benefits the stakeholders are the more willing they are to accept and implement NBS. Increased awareness may be achieved with effective communication and education regarding NBS (Anderson & Renaud, 2021). According to Anderson et al. (2021), the sense of responsibility that stakeholders may develop during collaborative processes can also influence the degree of NBS acceptance. A common phenomenon is the displacement of responsibility to the government which leads to less interest in engagement in design and implementation processes (Toxopeus et al., 2020). Consequently, the level of acceptance may decrease. In contrast, the active participation of the stakeholders in the decisionmaking and design process creates feelings of co-ownership which leads to public acceptance (Anderson & Renaud, 2021). Furthermore, when stakeholders feel that their needs and concerns are addressed in the design process can foster acceptance since NBS can better align with stakeholders' interests. Finally, the collaborative design enhances transparent communication by providing stakeholders with accurate information about NBS. As a result, trust and credibility are built leading to acceptance (Ruangpan et al., 2021).

Acknowledging these factors in the early stages of an NBS project and incorporating them into collaboration processes can help increase stakeholder acceptance of NBS. By addressing concerns, sharing crucial information, considering stakeholders' values and interests, and actively engaging them, the likelihood of common acceptance and successful implementation of NBS may increase (Brill et al., 2022).

2.7 Conceptual Framework

The following diagram represents the conceptual model of this study, containing the key concepts of the research and their interrelation. The conceptual model was constructed based on information retrieved from the literature review. The independent variables of this model are stakeholder engagement, CCA, and NBS. The dependent variables include public acceptance and flood resilience. Public acceptance is first considered dependent on factors of influence discussed in section 2.6.1, second it depends on the degree of stakeholder engagement and finally, there is a significant interplay with flood resilience. The latter is based on the scenario where stakeholders' acceptance of NBS is enhanced when they acknowledge that flood resilience is brought through NBS implementation and their acceptance.

Overall, it is hypothesized that stakeholder engagement in the design process of NBS contributing to CCA, creates the feeling of co-creation, co-ownership and shared responsibility, thus enhances the chances of NBS acceptance. This eventually facilitates NBS implementation, which results in flood resilience in urban areas. Respectively, increased flood resilience and the sense of safety against floods also increases public acceptance, based on the perceived sense of safety by the stakeholders (Giordani et al., 2020).



Figure 2 Conceptual Model

Research Methodology Research Strategy

The main goal of this research is to investigate how stakeholder engagement in the design of NBS can enhance their public acceptance. To achieve this goal a qualitative approach is adopted. A single case study is used to help answer the research questions. This method is chosen as it enables an in-depth analysis of the case and contributes to the investigation of individuals' views and perceptions (Punch, 2014). In combination, literature review, site visits, and semi-structured interviews with key stakeholders that were involved in the case of Dakpark were employed. For a better understanding of the case and of stakeholders' perceptions, personal involvement in a workshop was part of the site visits. This was a gardening workshop, called "Groengroep" for the maintenance of the Dakpark, organized by the local community. This provided useful insights for the context of the study and stakeholders' values and perceptions for their contribution to the Dakpark design and decision-making process. Table 2 relates the different strategies that were employed to the research questions that were answered.

Table 2 Research strategies in relation to research questions

Title	Description
RQ1	Literature Review, Interviews
RQ2	Interviews, Literature Review
RQ3	Literature Review, Interviews, Site Visits

3.2 Data Collection & Analysis

Due to the mixed-method approach of the research, the data collection techniques vary. To ensure a comprehensive investigation, both primary and secondary data are employed. The primary data collection involved gathering information through discussions, site-visits, and semi-structured interviews. The secondary data encompassed already existing information from published research, academic journals, government reports, and publications.

Stage 1: Literature Review

The research process included 4 different stages. The first stage involved conducting a thorough review of academic articles and publications to gain a comprehensive understanding of the concepts and theory mentioned in Chapter 2. To locate relevant academic literature, SmartCat, and Googles Scholar were utilized. Key search terms (e.g., stakeholder engagement, flood resilience, NBS, FRM, ecosystem-based adaptation, collaborative planning, climate adaptation, participatory planning) were used to facilitate the identification of relevant literature. Policy documents (see Table 3) were studied to gain insights into the existing institutional context in the Netherlands and the municipality of Rotterdam. The documents give an overview of Rotterdam's climate resilience strategies, particularly for flood protection, and determined the degree to which stakeholder's are encouraged to actively participate in the design process of flood resilient measures.

Title	Year of Publication	Description
National Climate Adaptation Strategy (NAS)	2016	The NAS aims to address climate change effects and enhance country's resilience. The strategy is based on the principle of integrated risk management, through a proactive approach to managing climate risks in various sectors and at different spatial scales. It serves as a guiding framework for policy makers, practitioners and stakeholders involved in climate adaptation. Key aspect of the strategy is the collaboration between different stakeholders in implementing climate adaptation.
Rotterdam Climate Change Adaptation Strategy	2013	Rotterdam's CCA strategy outlines the city's approach to address climate change challenges. The strategy is based on the integration of water management into urban planning. It emphasizes collaboration among stakeholders and public engagement to create a resilient urban environment and makes clear that traditional flood defense systems fall short in the face of changing climate patterns.
Rotterdam Resilience Strategy	2022	This document refers to strategies that can increase Rotterdam's resilience and adaptive capacity. The strategy outlines a broad approach to address city's various challenges, including flood resilience. Depending on the nature of each challenge, particular stakeholders that can act as strategic partners are mentioned.

Table 3 Overview of reviewed policy documents.

Stage 2: Site Visits & Semi-structured Interviews

In the second stage site visits, and semi-structured interviews (see table 4) are employed. These methods offer real-time information regarding stakeholders' behavior, interactions, and values. The semi-structured interviews validate the information obtained by literature review and verify the accuracy of the secondary data, thus improving the overall credibility of the research findings. The interviews' flexibility and structure allow for a more in-depth exploration of interviewees' opinions, experiences, and insights. All interviews are recorded with prior informed consent of the interviewees. They are transcribed with Descript software and finally analyzed with the use of Atlas.ti. Interviews took place in Rotterdam and remotely, through Google Meets and by email. They lasted for approximately 45 minutes. The interview guides and transcriptions can be found in Appendix A and C,D,E respectively. The site visits took place in Dakpark on 22, 23, and 24 June and they lasted for approximately 3 hours. They benefited the research since they enhanced the feeling of trust (Haessgen, 2019) among the researcher and the involved stakeholders in the interviews.

Stage 3: Data Analysis & Findings

The third stage of the research includes the analysis of literature review & interviews and the development of findings. The interviews are analyzed through a deductive coding framework that is developed based on common themes referenced in the theoretical background. The Atlas.ti software is used for the data analysis. Findings are developed through comparison and combination of the primary and secondary data. The various codes and themes (see Appendix B) are led by the research questions and are relevant to the concepts described in the theoretical framework. The theoretical framework, the insights from the theory, and the interviews help to comprehend how stakeholder engagement is operationalized within the case study and to answer the research question in terms of public acceptance.

Finally, a comparison between results and findings from the literature review and interviews help to confirm or falsify the hypothesis and check if the research findings correspond to reality. In the conclusion section, the research questions are finally answered based on a coherent summary of the research outcomes.

Table 2 Overview of Interviews

	Stakeholder	Number of Participants	Date	Duration
Recorded Interview	Volunteers (Local community)	2	23/06/2023	32:26
Recorded Interview	Landscape Architect (SantenCO)	1	27/06/2023	1:08
Email	Landscape Architect (Municipality of Rotterdam)	1	20/7/2023	-

3.3 Case Study

Located in Rotterdam, the Dakpark serves as an intriguing case study that showcases the remarkable possibilities and transformative effects of NBS within urban settings. This example highlights how integrating green infrastructure can bring about innovative and cost-effective changes to urban environments and societal benefits.

The Dakpark situated on the west side of the city, in the Delfshaven area, is the largest roof park in Europe, covering 80,000m². It is built on top of a multi-story car park above a shopping center and integrates a sea barrier for flood protection. Its multifunctional character makes it an exemplary project that responds to the needs of the local community but also assures environmental protection and co-benefits. The park features vegetation, trees, flowers, and shrubs which create aesthetic value but also provide numerous environmental benefits. A thick layer of soil was included in the construction plans to guarantee a water buffering capacity of approximately 100 to 200 liters per square meter (Buro Sant en Co, N/D). This ensures delayed runoff and water storage in case of heavy rainfall. In addition to environmental benefits, the Dakpark offers a variety of amenities and opportunities for recreational activities for the local community and its visitors. The park includes walking and cycling paths, sports facilities, a playground, thematic gardens, a restaurant, and a winter greenhouse. The park serves as a vibrant hub for outdoor activities, cultural events, and community engagement fostering a sense of ownership and belonging to the inhabitants.

The Interest in this case study lies in its collaborative design process, which involved the active engagement and collaboration of different stakeholders since the start of the project. Co-design was key for the project's successful realization since multiple stakeholders would be affected (Raaphorst, 2017). Originally, the place where Dakpark is located, used to be a rail yard for freight trains. However, illegal activities in the area during the late nineties kept the residents worried about their neighborhood. When the Port Authority decided to give up the rail yard, competing ideas for the redevelopment plans of the area swiftly emerged. On the one hand, the landowner (Port Authority) and the Council of Rotterdam wanted to build shops and other real estate while on the other hand, the local community wanted a park. The solution was found in common through the organization of consultation meetings with residents, the municipality, a Landscape Architect, and developers (Tillie & van der Heijden, 2016). The involvement of residents in the meetings played a crucial role in the development of the park. The architect ensured to incorporate their ideas and wishes of them in the design plans and residents' satisfaction was apparent (Raaphorst, 2017).

The design phase took place in the period of 2002-2007 while the construction phase began in 2009 and lasted for about five years when the Dakpark was officially opened to the public. After the opening of the park, maintenance activities of the park were handed to volunteers from the local community (Buro Sant en Co, N/D).

3.4 Ethical Considerations

The qualitative nature and context of this research require compliance with principles as they are framed by the Netherlands Code of Conduct for Research Integrity (NWO, 2018). These principles refer to transparency, informed consent, confidentiality, data handling and storage and potential risk and benefits of this research. Ethical challenges mainly arise during the phase of data collection, since it involves the use of semi-structured interviews with different stakeholders.

Transparency is crucial to this research and was maintained during all the phases to ensure the credibility of the results. Prior to conducting interviews and observations during the site visits, participants were provided with detailed explanations of the research objectives, procedures and potential benefits. One of the benefits of their participation into the research is the opportunity to express and share their perspectives and contribute to the understanding of research's topic. Consent was obtained before every interview and participants were informed for their right to not answer questions or withdraw at any point during the interview. Confidentiality and anonymity are also ensured, respecting the privacy of participants. Pseudonyms are assigned to participants during data analysis. All collected data are handled and stored securely in password protected folders to protect participants' confidentiality. Data are stored until the completion of the study and permanently deleted by the end of it.
4. Results

The Aim of this chapter is to provide sufficient evidence to answer the research questions and determine the role of stakeholders in both conceiving and realizing NBS (RQ). Through literature review and the conduction of interviews, factors that enable or inhibit stakeholder engagement in the design of NBS are explored (RQ1, RQ2). Furthermore, the impact of stakeholder engagement upon public acceptance of NBS at local scale is assessed (RQ3). The presentation of findings aims to cover the knowledge gap concerning the effects of stakeholder engagement in NBS, as stated in chapter 1.

4.1 The driving forces: Stakeholder motivation in shaping NBS

Scholars are focusing on exploring the motives that lie behind stakeholder's participation in NBS (Ferreira et al., 2020). According to the authors, motives are distinguished in three categories: individual, communal, and environmental. Concerning individual factors, it has been highlighted that stakeholders' proximity to a source of disruption can influence the degree of involvement to the design and uptake of NBS (Ferreira et al., 2020). Stakeholders such as citizens, are eager to participate in NBS for learning opportunities (e.g., gardening), to exercise and improve their physical and mental health, and to defend their properties (Asha & Blahna, 2012). Furthermore, what individuals consider is the perceived function of the measure in combination with co-benefits. Stakeholders are more likely to support an NBS when they recognize environmental and societal benefits.

Environmental motives are driven by the threshold of stakeholders for environmental protection and risk reduction (Anderson & Renaud, 2021). Research highlights that the more guilty stakeholders feel for the environmental degradation, the more willing they are to contribute to the design of NBS (Asha & Blahna, 2012). Another factor is awareness of the project's goals, environmental benefits, and importance. Enhancing prior comprehensive understanding of NBS increases stakeholder engagement and support (Giordani et al., 2020). Studies confirm that when stakeholders believe that NBS can effectively address environmental and social challenges, they are most likely to contribute to their realization (Fors et al., 2019; Giordani et al., 2020).

The last category of motives corresponds to social aspects. Studies highlight the fact that some stakeholders, in particular the public, feel more motivated to engage in NBS for the social interaction with other community members or stakeholders (Asha & Blahna, 2012). They want to enjoy the experience of co-creation with friends, neighbors, and meet new people or even make new friends.

"The more volunteers wanted to be with friends, meet, converse and interact with likeminded people, and enjoy that experience, the more frequently they volunteered with their favorite stewardship organization" (Asha & Blahna, 2012).

The results from the interviews revealed that the most influential factor for stakeholder engagement was the recognition of environmental benefits, the desire for a greener city and finally, the recreational and educational opportunities for them and the rest of the neighborhood. Volunteers from the local community, mostly residents close to Dakpark, highlighted the importance of a nice and neat environment. They highly valued the presence of greenery and vegetation, and they supported the benefits of it for the preservation of biodiversity.

"I think nature is important for cities, and nature can be beautiful to recreate, but also for education for the children, that they can see where the apple grow. Not in the supermarket, but on the trees. And, yeah, I wanted a greener city. – Volunteer A"

The interview with the municipality's landscape architect and the appointed designer confirmed the importance of greenery and vegetation for the residents but also for themselves. However, when referring to stakeholders with property rights they mentioned their threshold to get involved in the design phase for monetary reasons.

"I like to make my assignments as green as possible. – External Designer of the Dakpark"

"The underlying district needed a green living space. - Municipality Landscape Architect"

Moreover, during the site visits, one of the discussions with the volunteers revealed that they saw the design process as an opportunity to meet and interact with their neighbors and other volunteers.

4.2 Challenges for Stakeholder Engagement

For the second research question interviews with both volunteers and the designers of the Dakpark were conducted which revealed factors that hindered the design process and impeded stakeholder engagement.

The factor that was mostly mentioned by the volunteers was the competing visions and interests they had. Residents wanted a safe place, with a lot of greenery, and natural elements, but they all had a different perception of how the park would look like.

"Everyone wanted the park but in a different way." – Volunteer A

"The more people you have, the more ideas you have." – Volunteer B

The Landscape Architect from the municipality of Rotterdam revealed that the district wanted a park and the port authority (owner of the plot) wanted to earn money from that land. Particularly he mentioned:

"Everyone had their own interests. A very extensive and costly remediation has taken place."-Municipality Landscape Architect

During the consultation phase, a lot of discussion was driven by the competing ideas that stakeholders had for the designs of the park. Sometimes there was opposition to designs between the local community and the authorities. Volunteers also highlighted that even though they actively participated in the design process and the consultation meetings, they found out that in the end some of their ideas were not considered and incorporated into the final designs. This resulted in dissatisfaction among the volunteers.

"The really cooperate, and work together. And it didn't feel on the same level. We can talk, they ask, what do you want? And then they go back to the city hall and make their plans. And don't take the ideas of the people who live here seriously. They do their own plans." – Volunteer B

"Resistance from the port authority, colleagues, and residents. The Port Authority and colleagues thought it was a complicated plan and preferred a separate building and separate park on the ground. Residents preferred a normal park on the ground. Lots of consultation. Take you step by step through the process. Making it clear that stacking from park to building was best for everyone." – Municipality Landscape Architect

Financial challenges occurred during the design process as well. The creation of a rooftop park with a thick soil to handle the weight from the vegetation and trees was a challenge and it turned out to be a costly project.

"Lots of challenges. Expensive remediation, a park that was getting higher and higher and therefore more difficult to reach, a roof of a building that had to remain watertight, high costs to make the roof strong enough to support tall trees." – Municipality Landscape Architect

When Volunteers were asked if their ideas were incorporated into the plans they answered:

"Sometimes. Cause they make decisions because they have the budget, the decide how to spend it. So, when the budget already finished. "No, we can't do that. We just can do a little bit of that." So, they already made the decisions. Then we find out what the decisions were. So, we were not always happy with the decisions they took. Or how they took it." – Volunteer B

Another issue that brought tension and discrepancy among the stakeholders was the safety and security concerns that Volunteers had for the development of the park. Before the development of the Dakpark, the neighborhood was not a safe place for the residents due to illegal activities that were taking place. That made the residents hesitant in the beginning and influenced the way that residents visioned the park. They wanted a park, but a safe park with a fence which came in opposition with the design from the external designer and the municipality. This resulted in time consuming negotiations and adjustments of plans.

"This neighborhood had to do with challenges of.. It was not a safe neighborhood. So, people were afraid a park could be a place where people can hide, prostitutes can work, and junks. So a lot of people had a lot of trouble with junks' hangouts, robberies." – Volunteer A

"Lots of challenges. Expensive remediation... residents who were afraid of bums and junkies in the park and therefore wanted the park to be lockable. Etc. As a result, a lengthy planning process with many adjustments to the design and many cutbacks."

4.3 Collaborative and shared decision-making.

From the interviews and the site visit discussions, collaboration among the stakeholder during the design phase of the Dakpark and the decision-making was discussed to understand how it was conceptualized.

Every participant in the interviews confirmed that collaboration was facilitated with consultation meetings for two months. They called it the "Dakpark Cafe". The meetings were organized by the appointed Designer of the Dakpark and took place in combination with interviews, design studios and excursions to take inspiration from other exemplary parks. During the consultation meetings, residents, representatives from the port authority (owner of the plot), the planning team, and a supervisor from the municipality of Rotterdam were actively engaged in the decision-making process.

The residents already knew what they needed for their neighborhood, and they co-created a plan with several "commands" which they presented to the designer of the park and the municipality. The interviews revealed that residents had a sense of responsibility and co-ownership for their neighborhood, while they wanted to contribute to the design of the park but also its maintenance. Thus, they expressed their needs and tried to bring ideas for the designs.

"The discussions were arranged by the project manager of the city, and then there was a meeting. I tried to always be there and include my ideals in the discussion" – Volunteer A

"But here, the whole idea was because the people were already involved. They were already being asked, what are the most important points? If we make a park, what should be in it? So they make, they had a list of 10 demands. ...So, they were already pretty involved and they got the opportunity to make the decision" – External Designer of the Dakpark

"An extensive planning team and an intensive participation process with residents, including a two-monthly Dakparkcafe." – Municipality Landscape Architect

Communication was facilitated in the consultation meetings and inclusivity and diversity was ensured among the stakeholders. However, it was highlighted by the volunteers that most of the people who participated in the design process were Dutch and of a limited age range. The stakeholders that were involved in the design process were the developer of the building under the Dakpark, port authority, ProRail, municipality of Rotterdam, residents, the water board and Eneco. "There was a group of people talking about the plans for the park with all the neighbours. There was a project leader paid by the city who arranged meetings for the plans. And the oldest people of a safe park with gates. And we talked about the diversity of planting." – Volunteer A

"We met a group of people who could easily talk with us about design possibilities. And some people are not suitable for going through all those design steps, but others are. So, we selected a group of about 40 people. We invited this group every Wednesday afternoon to go to the place we rented at the edge of the Dakpark." – *External Designer of the Dakpark*

Transparency and Legitimacy was another aspect of the design process. Through the discussions, residents had the opportunity to express their opinion on designs, make their needs clear and negotiate plans with the designers and developers of the project. In that way, designers were able to better understand the needs of the local community.

"Listening and trying to understand what they meant was 50% of the work. And then of course, I make the drawing.." – External Designer of the Dakpark

Nevertheless, when a particular issue emerged with the construction of a restaurant's installation at the park which was not initially at the plan, residents felt that they were not sufficiently informed from the beginning and their dissatisfaction with the plan was not considered by authorities and the other stakeholders.

4.4 Stakeholder Engagement Impact

The active involvement of the various stakeholders in the design phase of the Dakpark had its advantages and disadvantages for the stakeholders. The results varied in accordance with the perceptions of different stakeholders. Nonetheless, few times it was mentioned that the more the people and ideas the harder it was to come to an agreed solution, many benefits emerged from stakeholder engagement. According to the Landscape Architect from the municipality of Rotterdam, stakeholder involvement had a major influence on the final designs. *"Had a major influence on the design. The design has mainly become simpler and more robust. Sometimes given the benefit of the doubt. Sometimes against my better judgement." – Municipality Landscape Architect*

On the other hand, when residents were asked if they felt satisfied with the consultation process and the design phase, they answered that they were not always happy with that. Sometimes they felt that their inputs were not appreciated and incorporated in the plans by the municipality and the external designer.

Another impact of stakeholder engagement that emerged from the interviews and the site visits was the overall acceptance of the project. The external designer of the park and the Landscape architect stated the participation of stakeholders in the consultation meetings enhanced information sharing, increased the feeling of co-creation and ownership, and therefore resulted in acceptance of the Dakpark from most of the parties. Few residents were hesitant and negative to some plans. However, the residents didn't confirm that acceptance was influenced by their participation. They already wanted the park although they visioned it in a different way. Similarly, findings from the literature review confirmed that stakeholder engagement strongly relates to NBS acceptance and implementation (Frantzeskaki, 2019). According to the theoretical framework NBS require collaborative governance and inclusive decision making for successful results.

Overall, the collected data revealed several key insights for the design process. Collaboration was facilitated through consultation meetings involving various stakeholders. The project's success was influenced by transparent communication and addressing stakeholder's needs. Competing visions and interest among the involved stakeholders hindered the design process. Dissatisfaction among volunteers and authorities arose in combination with monetary constraints. Security concerns from the neighbourhood's history of illegal activities led to negotiations and adjustments in the park's design. Communication, inclusivity, and diversity were promoted. Despite challenges, stakeholder engagement contributed to improved designs, co-ownership and acceptance of the project, though not all residents felt their inputs were valued.

5.Discussion

5.1 Aligning Research Findings with Theoretical Constructions

The research findings shed light on the significant relationship between stakeholder engagement in the design process of NBS and the subsequent acceptance of them. Through a comprehensive exploration of motivations, challenges, and factors that influence the collaboration and decisionmaking process, the study offers insights into how stakeholder engagement enhances the acceptance of NBS projects aimed at addressing flood resilience.

The findings extracted from the discussions, and the interviews in general align with the results from the literature review, however there are few points addressed in the literature review that were not confirmed by the interviews. For example, stakeholders did not mention that hesitation emerged from their limited knowledge about NBS. In contrast, though residents that participated in the design process were already concerned with the environmental benefits of the park and they supported its implementation although at the design phase climate change was not a big concern for officials. Another finding that was falsified by the interviewees was the displacement of the responsibility to the government (Toxopeus et al.,2020). Stakeholders, especially residents, already felt responsible for their neighborhood, thus they were actively involved in the design process was highlighted in interviews and in literature review (Ferreira et al., 2020; Arlati et al., 2021), as there is diversity in the ideas and perceptions of NBS. The involvement of various stakeholders and cross-sectoral communication was also a key feature of Rotterdam's Climate Adaptation Strategy (DE URBANISTEN, 2013). Partnerships can prove beneficial for communication and ideas sharing, leading to increased acceptance of NBS.

A remarkable finding is that flood resilience was not an issue addressed during the design process of the Dakpark. The interviewees did not address flood resilience as a key point of the consultation meetings. When interviewees were asked how flood resilience was incorporated into the plans, they answered that the park was located on an already existing dike, and they didn't pay much attention to the issue at that period. This comes in contrast with the recent developments in the academic discourse which supports that stakeholder engagement leads to more informed decisions that effectively address flood resilience.

Diversity is another factor that was both addressed in the interviews and literature review. As scholars of the CP support, the benefit of involving various stakeholders in a design process of NBS (Purbani, 2017; Driessen et al., 2018; Ruangpan et al., 2021), the interviews revealed contradictive results. On the one hand, diversity enhances shared knowledge, builds trust, legitimacy, and increases

awareness of the risks to be addressed, whereas on the other hand it can lead to competing ideas and eventually result in time consuming processes. Thus, a balance and a correct identification of stakeholders is suggested. Scholars have already developed frameworks that address stakeholder identification for inclusion to decision-making processes, to achieve the optimal results in a reasonable time frame. Such frameworks are addressed by Zingraff-Hamed et al. (2019) and Etxebarria et al. (2022). Further research is recommended on how to achieve optimization in balancing the correct stakeholders upon their competing interests and power to influence an NBS project.

Overall, the literature review, site visits and interviews revealed that each stakeholder had their own values and motives to engage in the design process of the Dakpark. Motivational factors mainly include appreciation for the natural and environmental benefits, coupled with a collective desire for a greener urban landscape. The recognition of the park's potential to provide both recreational and educational opportunities, in addition to social interaction within the community supported the rational for active involvement and participation.

The results seem to validate the theory of CP described in chapter 2. Collaborative decisionmaking, transparent and inclusive discussions that foster the active engagement of stakeholders can prove beneficial for the planning practice, based on the results of the research.

5.2 Validating the Conceptual Framework

The conceptual model of this study was created based on key findings derived from the literature review. It illustrates the interrelation of stakeholder engagement with NBS, CCA, public acceptance and finally flood resilience. The interplay within the model is multifaceted. Public acceptance is contingent upon influencing factors such as: the benefits and trade-offs of the measures, their perceived effectiveness for flood protection, financial factors, the safety concerns of stakeholders have and the interests and needs of the various stakeholders. In addition, acceptance depends on the degree of stakeholder engagement. Stakeholder engagement in turn, is closely related with NBS implementation that contributes to CCA. According to the findings, stakeholder engagement in NBS design fosters feelings of co-creation, co-ownership, and shared responsibility, whereas also legitimacy and inclusivity. These feelings in turn increase the likelihood of NBS acceptance. Consequently, this facilitates the actual implementation of NBS, that might lead to increased flood resilience within urban areas. Although, the model proposes that enhanced flood resilience resulting from NBS reinforces public acceptance, research findings did not confirm this relationship.

5.3 Answering the research questions & hypothesis

The results of the research prove to be valuable based on the theoretical framework. Findings help to answer the research questions and the hypothesis.

Research question 1:

The motives that can influence and increase stakeholder engagement include natural and environmental values and benefits, desire for a greener environment, recreational, educational, and social interaction opportunities. In addition, stakeholders' proximity to a source of disturbance, awareness of the NBS goals, function and co-benefits can also increase stakeholder engagement. Finally depending on the background of stakeholder monetary profits can also trigger the involvement of a stakeholder in the design process.

Research question 2:

The study uncovered a range of factors that might hinder the process of stakeholder engagement in the design phase of NBS. Such factors include diversity of perceptions that lead to competing visions among stakeholders, financial constraints, security concerns, and instances of dissatisfaction hinder the engagement process. These challenges resonate with the literature's discussions on hesitation, and limited threshold to participate in the design phase.

Research question 3:

The literature review and interviews revealed that collaboration, communication, and shared decision-making are success factors in planning practice. Collaboration among stakeholders brings knowledge and ideas exchange, fostering shared understanding of the challenges and opportunities related to NBS. Effective communication can increase awareness of the environmental benefits of NBS and flood resilience. It can also enhance transparency of discussions which can increase stakeholders' trust to the project, leading to higher acceptance. The Dakpark Café fostered shared decision-making which enhance the feelings of co-creation and co-ownership among stakeholders. These findings align with theoretical frameworks that emphasize the importance of participatory approaches, effective communication, and shared decision-making in promoting stakeholder acceptance.

Hypothesis:

It was hypothesized that stakeholder engagement in the design process of NBS contributing to CCA, creates the feeling of co-creation, co-ownership and shared responsibility, thus enhances the chances of NBS acceptance. Respectively, increased flood resilience and the sense of safety against floods also increases public acceptance.

The results confirm the hypothesized relationship between stakeholder engagement and public acceptance of NBS. However, it is not validated from the interviews that increased flood resilience due to NBS results in increased acceptance of NBS.

Overall research question:

The results from the literature review and interviews suggest that stakeholder engagement in the design process of NBS does contribute to feelings of co-creation, co-ownership, collaboration, trust building and shared responsibility. These feelings result in enhanced likelihood of NBS acceptance among stakeholders. According to the findings, collaborative decision-making fosters a sense of shared responsibility leading to an overall support and acceptance of NBS. Furthermore, the alignment of stakeholders' interests, safety concerns, and perceived benefits increase their support and acceptance for NBS.

6. Conclusion

In the face of climate challenges, the integration of NBS into urban planning has emerged as a promising approach to enhance flood resilience while fostering sustainable development. The aim of this study was to unravel the relationship between stakeholder engagement and the successful design and implementation of NBS projects, particularly those addressing flood resilience in urban areas. The main objective of this thesis was to explore how stakeholder engagement in the design process of NBS for flood resilience can increase the acceptance of NBS among stakeholders.

Through an in-depth case study of the Dakpark in Rotterdam and a comprehensive analysis of literature, interviews and site-visits, this research provides valuable insights to answer the research questions and illuminate the critical role of stakeholder engagement. Collaborative planning, effective communication, and shared decision-making are considered success factors in the planning practice. They can raise awareness, facilitate exchange of ideas and information among stakeholders and contribute to a shared understanding of the challenges and opportunities of NBS. The findings of this study illuminate the multifaceted motivations that drive stakeholder engagement in the design of NBS, whereas also highlights influential factors that hinder stakeholder engagement and can result in decreased acceptance of NBS. Recognizing these factors can be valuable for the planning practice since their mitigation can foster a sense of co-ownership among stakeholders, enhancing NBS outcomes.

The study's hypothesis, which developed a positive correlation between stakeholder engagement and NBS acceptance, found partial confirmation in the research outcomes. While stakeholder engagement contributes to feelings of shared responsibility and co-creation, the direct influence of increase flood resilience on NBS acceptance was not verified, paving the way for further research.

To conclude, this research provides a comprehension of NBS within the context of urban planning, offering insights that resonate within both theoretical frameworks and practical application. By focusing on the dynamic interplay between stakeholder engagement and NBS acceptance, this study highlights the importance of collaboration, effective communication, and shared decision-making in developing sustainable solutions for flood resilience. As cities worldwide are confronted with the urgent need of adapting to climate changes and sustainable urban development, the findings of this research provide a guide for planners, policymakers, and stakeholders seeking to navigate the complex landscape of NBS. Through these insights, we step closer to a future where resilience, environmental integrity, and community well-being harmoniously coexist in urban landscapes.

7. Reflection

The thesis focuses on a single case study that allows to explore in depth the subject of stakeholder engagement and stakeholder's behavior and perceptions. For the purposes of the research, semistructured interviews were conducted with a limited sample size, but included diverse stakeholders, such as residents, architects, and a representative from the municipality of Rotterdam. Although interviewees were immediately willing to participate in discussions and share their experience and thoughts, not all interviews revealed the expected information. Interviews with more stakeholders of diverse background are recommended for future research since it will provide more diverse and valid results. Research results could have been different if the perceptions of other stakeholders and more volunteers were investigated. Furthermore, the aspect of flood resilience is not reflected in the discussions. This resonates in the fact that when the design process took place climate change was not a concern as it is now. Thus, stakeholders did not provide insights regarding flood resilience during the interviews.

The use of multiple cases and from other countries could make the results about the research more accurate, as different cultural, social, and environmental factors in other regions can influence stakeholder engagement and acceptance. Finally, comparison of the findings with similar studies conducted in different contexts or with different nature-based solutions can provide a broader understanding of the effects of stakeholder engagement on acceptance.

Overall, semi structured interviews and discussions during site-visits gave the freedom to interviewees to express their perspectives and experiences in their own words, providing nuanced and detailed insights. The research was grounded on existing knowledge and prior research. Thus, findings were built upon a strong foundation of theory. Furthermore, the benefit of focusing on an implemented project is that it can potentially contribute to other ongoing or future projects by providing insights into success or hindering factors of stakeholder engagement and acceptance and can be used for the development of stakeholder involvement strategies.

References

- 1. Aldardasawi, A., F., M., Eren, B. (2021). Floods & their impact on the environment: 5th International Symposium on Natural Hazards and Disaster Management, 7 Nov 2023, Turkey.
- 2. Alexander, D. E. (2013). Resilience and disaster risk reduction: an etymological journey, *Natural Hazards & Earth System Sciences*, 1, pp. 1257-1284.
- 3. Allmendinger, P. (2017) *Planning theory*. 3rd edn. London: Palgrave.
- 4. Allmendinger, P., Tewdwr-Jones, M. (2002). *Planning Futures: New Directions for Planning Theory.* 1st edn. London: Routledge.
- 5. Amirzadeh, M., Sobhaninia, S., & Sharifi, A. (2022). Urban resilience: A vague or an evolutionary concept? 81, pp.1-12.
- Anderson, C. C., Renaud, F. G. (2021). A review of public acceptance of Nature-based solutions: The 'why', 'when' and 'how' of success for disaster risk reduction measures. *Ambio:*50, pp.1552-1573.6
- Arleti, A., Rodl, A., Kanjaria-Christian, S., Knieling, J. (2021). Stakeholder participation in the Planning and Design of Nature-Based Solutions. Insights from CLEVER Cities Project in Hamburg., *Sustainability*, 13, pp.31-48.
- 8. Asah,S.T., Blahna,D.J. (2012). Motivational functionalism and urban conservation stewardship: Implications for volunteer involvement. *Conserv. Lett.*, 5,pp 470–477.
- 9. Beery, T. 2018. Engaging the Private Homeowner: Linking Climate Change and Green Stormwater Infrastructure. *Sustainability*, 10, 4791.
- 10. Bernello, G., Mondino, E., Bortolini, L. (2022). People's Perception of Nature-based Solutions for Flood Mitigation: The Case of Veneto Region (Italy), *Sustainability*, 14, 4621.
- Bertilsson, L., Wiklund, K., de Moura Tebaldi, I., Rezende, O. M., Verol, A. P., Miguez, M. G. (2019) Urban flood resilience – A multi criteria index to integrate flood resilience into urban planning, *Journal of Hydrology*, 573, pp.970-982.
- 12. Bogatinoska, B., Lansu, A., Huge, J., Dekker, S. C. (2022). Participatory Design of Nature-based Solutions: Usability of Tools for Water Professionals, *Sustainability*, 14, 5562.
- 13. Brears, R.C. (2020). *Nature-Based Solutions to 21st Century Challenges*. 1st edition, Routledge, NY.
- 14. Buro Sant en Co (N/D). Dakpark Rotterdam Available at: <u>https://www.santenco.nl/portfolio_page/dakpark/</u> Accessed 25 June 2023).
- 15.
- Brill, G., Carlin, D., McNeeley, S. (2022). Stakeholder Engagement Guide for Nature-Based Solutions. United Nations CEO Water Mandate and Pacific Institute, Oakland, California. Available at: <u>www.ceowatermandate.org/nbs/engagementguide</u> (Accessed 20 June 2023).
- 17. Brillinger, M., Henze, J., Albert, C., Schwarze, R. (2021). Integrating nature-based solutions in flood risk management plans: A matter of individual beliefs? *Science of the Total Environment*, no.795., pp.2.
- 18. van der Brugge, R., Rotmans, J., Loorbach, D. (2005). The transition in Dutch Water Management. *Reg. Environmental Change*, no.5, pp. 164-176.
- 19. Burnside-Lawry, J., Carvalho, L. (2016). A Stakeholder Approach to Building Community Resilience: Awareness to Implementation, *International Journal of Disaster Resilience in the Built Environment*, 7(1), pp. 4-25.
- 20. C40 Cities (2016). Good Practice Guide, Climate Change Adaptation in Delta Cities. London,
United Kingdom. Available at https://www.c40.org/wp-

content/static/good practice briefings/images/5 C40 GPG CDC.original.pdf?1456788885 (Accessed 13 June 2023)

- 21. CRED (2022). *Disasters in numbers*. Brussels, CRED; 2023. Available at: <u>https://cred.be/sites/default/files/2022_EMDAT_report.pdf</u> (Accessed23 March 2023).
- 22. Cohen-Shacham, E., Walters, G., Janzen, C., Maginnis, C. (2016). *Nature-based Solutions to address global societal challenges*, IUCN Commission on Ecosystem Management (CEM) & IUCN World Commission on Protected Areas (WCPA), Switzerland.
- 23. Dakpark Rotterdam (2022). Welcome to the Dakpark. Available at: <u>https://www.dakparkrotterdam.nl/missie-visie/</u> (Accessed 7 January 2023)
- 24. Davoudi, S. (2012). Resilience: A Bridging Concept or a Dead End? *Planning Theory and Practice*, 13(2), 299-33.
- 25. DE UBANISTEN, (2013). *Rotterdam, Climate Change Adaptation Strategy,* Rotterdam, The Netherlands. Available at: <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5f082078d610926644d22e00/t/621e3a61f6c1665ece</u> <u>53bf4d/1646148232693/UB_RAS_EN_Ir.pdf</u> (Accessed 13 June 2023)
- 26. Dr. Kramer, K., Ware, J. (2021). Counting the cost 2021. A year of climate breakdown. Christian Aid, UK.
- Driessen, P. P. J., Hegger, D. L. T., Kundzewicz, Z. W., van Rijswick, H. F. M. W., Crabbe, A., Larrue, C., Matczak, P., Petterson, M., Priest, S., Suykens, C., Raadgever, G. T., Wiering, M. (2018). Governance Strategies for Improving Flood Resilience in the Face of Climate Change, *Water*, (10), 1595.
- 28. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) (2021). *Extreme rainfall and catastrophic floods in western Europe,* ECDC: Stockholm.
- 29. European Commision (2009). White paper on adapting to climate change: onwards a European Framework or Action. Brussels, 2009. Available at: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52009DC0147&from=EN</u> (Accessed 30 March 2023)
- 30. European Commision (2013). An EU strategy on adaptation to climate change, Brussels, 2013. Available at: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52013DC0216&from=EN</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023)
- 31. European Commission (2015). *Nature-Based Solutions and Re-Naturing Cities, Final Report of the Horizon 2020 Expert Group on Nature-Based Solutions Re-Naturing Cities*. European Union, Brussels, 2015.
- European Commission (N/D) Nature-Based Solutions, Brussels. Available at: <u>https://research-and-innovation.ec.europa.eu/research-area/environment/nature-based-solutions_en</u> (Accessed 20 March 2023).
- 33. European Commission (N/D). Resilience. Available at: <u>https://joint-research-centre.ec.europa.eu/scientific-activities-</u>z/resilience_en#:~:text=What%20is%20resilience%3F,%2C%20fair%2C%20and%20democratic%20manner. (Accessed 5 March 2023)
- 34. European Council (2021). Regulation (EU) 2021/1119 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 June 2021 establishing the framework for achieving climate neutrality and amending Regulations (EC) No 401/2009 and (EU) 2018/1999 ('European Climate Law'), Official Journal of the European Union, L243/1, 9 July. Available at: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32021R1119</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023)
- 35. European Environment Agency (2017). Climate change impacts and vulnerability in Europe2016,Anindicator-basedreport.Availableat:

https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/climate-change-impacts-and-vulnerability-2016 (Accessed 2 March 2023)

- 36. European Environment Agency, EEA (2021). River Floods. Available at: <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/river-floods-3/assessment</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023)
- 37. European Environment Agency, EEA (2021). Nature-based solutions in Europe: Policy, knowledge and practice for climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction. No.01/2021. Luxembourg. Publications Office of the European Union.
- European Environment Agency, EEA (2022). Economic losses from climate-related extremes in Europe. Available at: <u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/direct-losses-from-weather-disasters-3/assessment-2</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023).
- Etxebarria, J., Iglesias, J., Soloaga, S., Undabeitia, A., Ensenado, E M., Makousiari, E., Anastasopoulou, M., Spiegelhalder, M. R., Rodrigues, L. C., Meulenberg, C. JW., Hawke, S. M., Arampatzis, S., Papadopoulou, O., Tamiakis, I., Gharia, S., Anton, I., Tiwari, A., White, M. De Los R. (2022). Methodological framework for the socio-economic assessment of adaptation measures to climate change. Available at: <u>https://score-eu-project.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2022/10/D7.2.pdf</u> (Accessed 9 June 2023).
- Ferreira, V., Barreira, A. P., Loures, L., Antunes, D., Panagopoulos, T. (2020). Stakeholders' Engagement on Nature-Based Solutions: A systematic Literature Review. *Journal of Sustainability*, (12), pp.1-27.
- 41. Frantzeskaki, N. (2019). Seven lessons for planning nature-based solutions in cities. *Environmental Science & Policy*, pp.101-111.
- 42. Fors,H.,Wiström,B., Nielsen,A.B (2019). Personal and environmental drivers of resident participation in urban public woodland management—A longitudinal study. *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, 186, pp.79–90.
- 43. Geneletti, D., Zardo, L. (2016). Ecosystem-based adaptation in cities: An analysis of European urban climate adaptation plans. *Land Use Policy*, pp. 38-47.
- 44. Giordano, R., Pluchinotta, I., Paganp, A., Scrieciu, A., Nanu, F. (2020). Enhancing nature-based solutions acceptance through stakeholders' engagement in co-benefits identification and trade-offs analysis. *Science of the total Environment*, 713, 136652.
- 45. Healey, P. (2006). *Collaborative Planning: Shaping Places in Fragmented Societies*, end edn., London: Macmillan.
- 46. Haenssgen, M. J. (2019) Interdisciplinary Qualitative Research in Global Development: A Concise Guide. Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited (Emerald Points). Available at: <u>https://searchebscohost-com.proxy-ub.rug.nl/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=2255570&site=ehostlive&scope=site</u> (Accessed: 25 June 2023).
- 47. Holling, C. S. (1973). *Resilience and stability of ecological systems*. Annual review of ecology and systematics, 4(1), 1-23.
- 48. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2014). Climate change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation & Vulnerability, Part A: Global & Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1132 pp Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg2/</u> (Accessed 25 March 2023).
- 49. Jorissen, R., Kraaij, E., Tromp, E. (2016). Dutch flood protection policies and measures based on risk assessment. Flood risk- 3rd European Conference on Flood Risk Management. Netherlands.

- Kabisch, N., Frantzeskaki, N., Pauleit, S., Naumann, S., Davis, M., Artmann, M., Haase, D., Knapp, S., Korn, H., Stadler, J., Zaunberger, K., Bonn, A., (2016). Nature-based solutions to climate change mitigation and adaptation in urban areas: perspectives on indicators, knowledge gaps, barriers, and opportunities for action. *Ecology and Society*, 21(2).
- 51. Kryzanowski, A., Brilly, M., Rusjan, S., Schnabl, S. (2013). Review "Structural flood-protection measures reffering to several European case studies". *Natural Hazards & Earth System Sciences*, 14, pp.135-142.
- Kumar, P., Debele, S. E., Sahani, J., Rawat, N., Marti-Cardona, B., Alfieri, S. M., Basub, B., Basu, A. S., Bowyer, P., Charizopoulos, N., Gallotti, G., Jaakko, J., S. Leo, L., Loupis, L., Menenti, M., B. Mickovski, S., Mun, S. J., Gonzalez-Ollauri, A., Pfeiffer, J., Pilla, F., Pröll, J., Rutzinger, M., Santo, M. A., Sannigrahi, S., Spyrou, C., Tuomenvirta, H., Zieher, T. (2021). Nature-based solutions efficiency evaluation against natural hazards: Modelling methods, advantages and limitations. *Science of the Total Environment*, 784, pp. 1-27.
- 53. Koutsovili, E. I., Tzoraki, O., Kalli, A. A., Provatas, S., Gaganis, P. (2023) "Participatory Approaches for Planning Nature-Based Solutions in Flood Vulnerable Landscapes," *Environmental Science and Policy*, 140, pp. 12–23.
- 54. Lamichhane, A., Zaki, M. K., Okiria, E., Noda, K. (2021) *Decision-making in climate change adaptation through a cross-sectoral approach: review.* The 7th International Conference on Climate Change. IOP Conf. Series: Earth and Environmental Science.
- 55. Laukonnen, J., Blanco, P. K., Lenhart J., Keiner, M., Cavric, B., Kinuthia-Njenga, C. (2009). Combining climate change adaptation and mitigation measures at the local level. *Habitat International*, pp. 287-292.
- 56. Laurien, F., Hochrainer-Stigler, S., Keating, A., Campbell, K., Mechler, R., Czajkowski, J. (2020). A typology of community flood resilience, *Regional Environmental Change*, 20:24.
- 57. Laver, T., Berry, I., Booth, C. (2020). Chapter 12 From umbrellas to sandbags: An integration of flood risk management, engineering and social insights. *Sustainable Water Engineering*, pp. 207-228.
- Lehmkuhl, F., Schuttrumpf, H., Schwarzbauer, J., Brull, K., Dietze, M., Letmathe, P., Volker, C., Hollert, H. (2022). Assessment of the 2021 summer flood in Central Europe., *Environmental Sciences Europe*, 34:107, pp. 1-6.
- 59. Locatelli, B., Evans, V., Wardel, A., Andrade, A., Vignola, R. (2011). Forests & climate change in Latin America linking adaptation and mitigation. *Forests*, pp. 431-450.
- Lupp, G., Huang J. J., Zingraff-Hamed, A., Oen, A., Del Sepia, N., Martinelli, A., Lucchesi, M., WulffKnutsen, T., Olsen, M., Fjosne, TF., Balaguer E-M., Arauzo, I., Solheim, A., Kalsnes, B., Pauleit, S. (2021). Stakeholder Perceptions of Nature-Based Solutions & Their Collaborative Co-Design & Implementation Processes in Rural Mountain Areas- A Case Study From PHUSICOS. *Front. Environ. Sci.* 9:678446. Doi:10.3389/fenvs.2021.678446.
- 61. Matczak, P., Hegger, D. L. T. (2020). Flood Risk governance for More Resilience- Reviewing the Spatial Issue's Contribution to Existing Insights, *Water*, 12(8).
- 62. Malekpour, S., Tawfik, S. and Chesterfield, C. (2021). Designing Collaborative Governance for Nature-Based Solutions, *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 62, pp. 127–177.
- 63. Margerum, R. D. (2002). Collaborative Planning, Building Consensus & Building a Distinct Model for Practice, *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 21, pp.237-253.
- 64. Mercurio, Sarah, "Collaborative Planning and Equity" (2019). *Homelessness Research & Action Collaborative Publications and Presentations*, 13.

- 65. McAslan, A. (2010). The concept of Resilience, understanding its origins, managing and utility. Available at: <u>https://www.flinders.edu.au/content/dam/documents/research/torrens-</u><u>resilience-institute/resilience-origins-and-utility.pdf</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023).
- 66. Minati, G. (2008). Cities as Collective Beings, World Futures, 64:8, pp.577-589.
- 67. Ministry of Infrastructure & the Environment (2016). National Climate Adaptation Strategy, Adapting with Ambition, The Hague, Ministry of Infrastructure and Environment. Available at: <u>https://klimaatadaptatienederland.nl/en/policy-programmes/nas/</u> (Accessed 20 June 2023)
- 68. Ministry of Infrastructure and Water Management (2022). National Delta Programme 2023, Speed up, connect & reconstruct. Available at: <u>https://english.deltaprogramma.nl/documents/publications/2022/09/20/delta-programme-</u> <u>2023-english---print-version</u> (Accessed 20 March 2023).
- Monty, F., Murti, R., Miththapala, S., Buyck, C. (2017). Ecosystems protecting infrastructure and communities: lessons learned and guidelines for implementation. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. Available at: <u>https://www.iucn.org/resources/publication/ecosystems-protecting-infrastructure-and-communities</u> (Accessed 20 March 2023).
- Morello, E; Mahmoud, I; Gulyurtlu, S; Boelman, V; Davis, H (2018). CLEVER Cities Guidance on co-creating nature-based solutions: PART I - Defining the co-creation framework and stakeholder engagement. Deliverable 1.1.5, CLEVER Cities, H2020 grant no. 776604.
- Moreau C, Cottet M, Rivière-Honegger A, François A, Evette A. (2022). Nature-based solutions (NBS): A management paradigm shift in practitioners' perspectives on riverbank soil bioengineering., *Journal of Environmental Management*, 308, pp. 114638.
- 72. National Research Council (2010). Adapting to the Impacts of Climate Change. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC. Available at: <u>https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/12783/adapting-to-the-impacts-of-climate-</u> <u>change</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023)
- 73. Neumann, V., A., Hack, J. (2022). Revealing and assessing the costs and benefits of nature-based solutions within a real-world laboratory in Costa Rica, Environmental Impact Assessment Review 93.
- 74. NWO (2018). Netherlands Code of Conduct for Research Integrity Available at: <u>https://www.nwo.nl/sites/nwo/files/documents/Netherlands%2BCode%2Bof%2BConduct%2</u> <u>Bfor%2BResearch%2BIntegrity_2018_UK.pdf</u> (Accessed 25 June 2023)
- 75. Oggie, R. I., Adam, C., Perez, P. (2013) A review of structural approach to flood management in coastal megacities of developing nations: current research and future directions. *Journal of Environmental Planning & Management*, pp. 1-21.
- Oulahen, G., Mortsch, L., O'Conell, E., Harford, D., Rutledge, A. (2019). Local practitioners' use of vulnerability and resilience concepts in adaptation to flood hazards. *Climatic Change*, 153, pp. 41-58.
- Pauleit, S., Zölch, T., Hansen, R., Randrup, T.B., Konijnendijk van den Bosch, C. (2017). Nature-Based Solutions and Climate Change – Four Shades of Green. In: Kabisch, N., Korn, H., Stadler, J., Bonn, A. (eds) *Nature-Based Solutions to Climate Change Adaptation in Urban Areas*. Theory and Practice of Urban Sustainability Transitions. Springer, Cham.
- 78. Rădulescu, M.A., Leendertse, W., Arts, J. (2022). *Living Labs: A Creative and Collaborative Planning Approach.* In: Franklin, A. (eds) Co-Creativity and Engaged Scholarship. Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- 79. Ruangpan, L., Vojinovic, Z., Di Sabatino, S., Leo, L., S., Capobianco, V., Oen, A., M., P., McClain, M., E., Lopez-Gunn, E. (2020). Nature-based solutions for hydro-meteorological risk reduction:

a state-of-the-art review of the research area. *Natural hazards & earth system sciences.* No. 20., pp. 243-270.

- 80. Rijke, J., van Herk, S., Zevenbergen, C., Ashley, R., (2012) Room for the River: delivering integrated river basin management in the Netherlands, *International Journal of River Basin Management*, 10:4, pp.369-382.
- Pauleit, S., Zolch, T., Hansen, R., Randrup, T., B., Van Den Bosch, C., K., (2017). Nature-based solutions & climate change – Four shades of Green. Nature Based-Solutions to climate change adaptation in urban areas. *Springer Open*. Switzerland. Pp. 29-44.
- 82. Punch, K. F. (2014). *Introduction to Social Research, Quantitative & Qualitative approaches*, 3rd edition, SAGE Publications Inc.
- 83. Purbani, K. (2017). Collaborative Planning for City Development. a Perspective from a City Planner, *Engineering & Environmental Sciences*, 26(1), pp. 136–147.
- 84. Raaphorst, K. (2017). 'Deconstructing' the Rotterdam roof park: multiplicity of design representations.
- 85. Restemeyer, B., van den Brink, M., Woltjer, J. (2018). Resilience unpacked framing of 'uncertainty' & 'adaptability' in long-term flood risk management strategies for London and Rotterdam, *European Planning Studies*, 26:8, pp. 1559-1579.
- 86. Rotterdam (2022). *Resilient Rotterdam Strategy 2022-2027: From risks to resilience., Rotterdam,* Municipality of Rotterdam.
- 87. Rybski, D., Gonzalez M.C. (2022) Cities as complex systems- Collection overview. PLOS ONE, 17(2).
- Schumacher, E. (2017). Germany recovers from deadly Storm Herwart. Nature & Environment, DW. Available at: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/germany-recovers-from-deadly-storm-herwart/a-41189907</u> (Accessed 3 March 2023).
- 89. Schoeman, J., Alla, C., Finlayson, M. (2014). A new paradigm for water? A comparative review of integrated, adaptive and ecosystem-based water management in the Anthropocene. *International Journal of Water Resources Development*, 30: 3, pp.377-390.
- Schramm, L., Wessels, W. (2023). The European Council as a crisis manager and fusion driver: assessing the EU's fiscal response to the COVID-19 pandemic, *Journal of European Integration*, 45:2, pp. 257-273.
- 91. Seneviratne, S.I., X. Zhang, M. Adnan, W. Badi, C. Dereczynski, A. Di Luca, S. Ghosh, I. Iskandar, J. Kossin, S. Lewis, F., Otto, I., Pinto, M. Satoh, S.M. Vicente-Serrano, M. Wehner, and B. Zhou, (2021). Weather and Climate Extreme Events in a Changing Climate. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1513–1766, doi:10.1017/9781009157896.013. Available at: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_Chapter11.pdf (Accessed 3 March 2023).
- 92. Silvius, G., Schipper, R. (2019). Planning Stakeholder Engagement from a Sustainable Development Perspective. *Administrative Sciences*, 9(2), pp.46.
- Smetkowski, M., Dabrowski, M. (2019). Economic risis, Cohesion Policy and the eroding image of the European Union at the regional level, Journal of Regional Science Policy and Practice:11, pp. 713-732.

- Soderholm, K., Pihlajamaki, M., Dubrovin, T., Veijalainen, N., Vehvilainen, B., Marttunen, M. (2018). Collaborative planning in adaptive flood risk management under climate change. *Water Resources Management*, no.32, pp. 1383-1397.
- 95. Somarakis, G., Stagakis, S., & Chrysoulakis, N. (Eds.). (2019). Think Nature-Based Solutions Handbook. Think Nature project funded by the EU Horizon 2020 research & innovation programme under grant agreement No. 730338. Doi:10.23225/jerv-w202.
- Spyra, M., Kleemann, J., Cetin, N. I., Navarrete, C. J. V., Albert, C., Palacios-Agundez, I., Ametzaga-Arregi, I., La Rosa, D., Rozas-Vasquez, D., Esmail, B. A., Picchi, P., Geneletti, D., Konig, H. J., Koo, H., Kopperoinen, L., Furst, C. (2019). The ecosystem services concept: a new Esperanto to facilitate participatory planning processes?, *Landscape Ecol*,34, pp.1715-1735.
- Sowińska-Świerkosz, B. and García, J. (2022) What Are Nature-Based Solutions (NBS)? Setting Core Ideas for Concept Clarification, *Nature-Based Solutions*, 2. doi: 10.1016/j.nbsj.2022.100009.
- 98. Terblanche, T., De Sousa, L.O., Van Niekerk, D. (2022). Disaster Resilience Framework Indicators for a City's Planning Strategy, Journal of Disaster Risk Studies, 14(1)
- 99. Tillie, N., van der Heijden, R. (2016). Advancing urban ecosystem governance in Rotterdam: From experimenting and evidence gathering to new ways for integrated planning
- 100. Toxopeus, H., Kotsila, P., Conde, M., Katona, A., van der Jagt, A. P. N., Polzin, F. (2020) How 'just' is hybrid governance of urban nature-based solutions?, *Cities*, 105.
- 101. Urban Nature Atlas (UNA) (2023). Atlas. Available at: <u>https://una.city/nbs/hague/de-</u> zeeheldentuin-community-garden (Accessed 5 May 2023).
- 102. United Nations Environment Programme and International Union for Conservation of Nature (2021). Nature-based solutions for climate change mitigation. Nairobi and Gland. Available

https://wedocs.unep.org/xmlui/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/37318/NBSCCM.pdf (Accessed 5 March 2023).

- United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction Secretariat (UNISDR), (2017). Report of the Open-ended Intergovernmental Expert Working Group on Indicators & Terminology Relating to Disaster Risk Reduction. The United Nations General Assembly. Available at: <u>https://www.undrr.org/publication/report-open-ended-intergovernmental-expert-working-group-indicators-and-terminology</u> (Accessed 5 March 2023).
- 104. Wang., L., Cui, S., Li, Y., H, H., Manandhar, B., Nitivattananon, V., Fang, X., H, X. (2022) A review of the flood management: from flood control to flood resilience, *Heliyon*, 8, 11763.
- 105. Westin, M. (2022). The framing of power in communicative planning theory: Analysing the work of John Forester, Patsy Healey and Judith Innes, *Planning Theory*, 21(2), pp.132-154.
- 106. World Bank (2021). A catalogue for Nature-Based Solutions for Urban Resilience. Washington, D.C. World Bank Group.
- 107. World Meteorological Organization (WMO) (2021). Weather-related disasters increase over the past 50 years, causing more damage but fewer deaths. Available at: <u>https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/weather-related-disasters-increase-over-past-50-years-causing-more-damage-fewer</u> (Accessed 24 March 2023).
- 108. Xie, L., Bulkeley, H. (2020). Nature-based Solutions for Urban Biodiversity Governance. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 110, pp. 77-87.
- 109. Yin, J., Yu, D., Yin, Z., Liu, M., He, Q. (2016). Evaluating the impact and risk of pluvial flash flood on intra-urban road network: case study in the city center of Shanghai, China., Journal of Hydrology, 537, pp. 138-165.

Appendices

Appendix A

Interview Guide with external Designer of Dakpark

- Introduction of Interviewer: personal background, topic of the thesis, explanation of key concepts, purpose of the interview
- Assure confidentiality and obtain consent for recording & notetaking.
- Could you please describe your role and responsibilities as the Designer of the Dakpark?
- What motivated you to design the Dakpark?
- What were the key stakeholders involved in the design process?
- What specific motivations did you observe among the stakeholders involved in the design of project? (in terms of stakeholders' perceptions of the environmental and social benefits of the Dakpark)
- Did you face any challenges during your collaboration with other stakeholders? Can you discuss any specific instances where you had to reconcile conflicting opinions or ideas among the stakeholders? How did you navigate those situations?
- Did you observe any resistance or skepticism toward your plans as the design process unfolded? If yes, what factors contributed to that resistance and how did you address it?
- Were there any major design decisions that were particularly challenging or required extensive collaboration to reach a consensus? How did you overcome those challenges?
- How were stakeholders invited to participate in the design process? What strategies or tools did you employ to foster effective communication and collaboration among the various stakeholders throughout the design process?
- How did you incorporate feedback and suggestions from the community into the park's design? Did this input significantly influence the final outcome?
- Looking back, do you believe that the collaborative design process influenced the stakeholder's overall acceptance and support for the Dakpark? If so how ?

Closing of interview:

- Thank Architect for his time and insights.
- Offer the opportunity to share any additional thoughts or information.

*Helps Answer RQ1

*Helps Answer RQ2

*Helps Answer RQ3

Interview Guide Volunteers

- Introduction of Interviewer: personal background, topic of the thesis, explanation of key concepts, purpose of the interview
- Assure confidentiality and obtain consent for recording & notetaking.
- Could you please describe your role and tasks in the design process of the Dakpark?
- What was your motivation to participate in the design of Dakpark?
- Were there any specific goals or benefits that you aimed to achieve through your engagement at the design process, either for you or the local community?
- How would you describe your level of involvement in the design process? Were you able to actively contribute your ideas and opinions?
- What challenges or obstacles did you face during your involvement in the design process of the Dakpark?
- Were there any factors that hindered your engagement/participation at the design process?
- How was communication facilitated among you and other stakeholders during the design process? Can you describe a consultation meeting/ collaboration activity?
- Do you feel your inputs and ideas were valued and incorporated into the final design? Could you provide some examples?
- Did your contribution to the design of the Dakpark enhanced your understanding and appreciation of the project? Would you support the uptake of similar projects for your city?
- Based on your experience, how important do you think it is for stakeholders (local residents) to have a say in the design of community projects like the Dakpark?

Closing of interview:

- Thank Volunteers for their time and insights.
- Offer the opportunity to share any additional thoughts or information.

*Helps Answer RQ1 *Helps Answer RQ2

*Helps Answer RQ3

Interview Guide Designer/Landscape Architect of Dakpark (Gemeente Roterdam)

- Introduction of Interviewer: personal background, topic of the thesis, explanation of key concepts, purpose of the interview
- Assure confidentiality and obtain consent for recording & note-taking

• Could you please describe your role and responsibilities as the Designer of the Dakpark?

- What was the municipality's motivation for constructing this park? Were there events/circumstances that made it necessary?
- What were the key stakeholders involved in the design process?
- What motivations have you observed among the other stakeholders involved in the design process? Were they concerned about the environment?
- Have you encountered any challenges while collaborating with the other stakeholders? If so, to what extent has this influenced the design process?
- Did you notice any resistance or skepticism towards the council's plans during the design process? If so, what factors contributed to that resistance and how did you address them?
- How was the cooperation between the municipality and the other stakeholder facilitated? How were stakeholders involved in the design process?
- How were stakeholders invited to participate in the design process? What strategies or tools did you employ to foster effective communication and collaboration among the various stakeholders throughout the design process?
- How did you incorporate feedback and suggestions from the community into the park's design? Did this input significantly influence the final outcome?
- Looking back, how did the collaboration and shared decision-making contribute to the acceptance of the park by various stakeholders, including the community and other relevant parties?

Closing of interview:

- Thank Architect for his time and insights.
- Offer the opportunity to share any additional thoughts or information

*Helps Answer RQ1

*Helps Answer RQ2

*Helps Answer RQ3

Appendix B

Coding Scheme

Theme	Description	Code
Motivation for participation	Stakeholders have their own incentives to get involved in the	Natural & environmental Benefits
	design process of NBS,	Desire for greener city
	including their perception of the environment, sustainable development and opportunities that can be created for the community.	Recreational & educational Values
Challenges	Difficulties faced by	Competing visions & interests
	stakeholders during and after the design process that can hinder the design or implementation of an NBS project.	Dissatisfaction with other stakeholders
		Financial
		Safety and security concerns
Collaboration	A process of interaction and building consensus among stakeholders towards a shared goal. (e.g., the design of NBS)	Co-creation
		Co-ownership
		Collaborative decision-making
		Transparency & Legitimacy
		Facilitating communication
		Inclusivity & diversity
Stakeholder Engagement Impact	The outcome of stakeholder	Stakeholder Acceptance
	engagement process on both stakeholders and the project itself.	Influence of design plans

Appendix C

Interview the external designer of the Dakpark

Interviewer: First of all, could you please describe your role and the responsibilities you had as a designer of the dark park?

Interviewee: Yeah. It was quite a long process. So, where I begin. Maybe the selection. That's an important moment. I have my private company Buro Sant and Co. And there are a few other offices who are capable to design in a public situation like this.

So there was a kind of competition and there was about 16 people in the jury. There was the developer of the building itself and the shopping mall underneath, there was the municipality, but the large part of the group were the community people the inhabitants of the nearby living area Bosch polder because it's a very complex very expensive project.

There are three levels of government. The Central Dutch government would pay money when there was a success in a good example of double ground use or a very effective ground use something very big on a very small plot or with, with staggering functions. The central city would give money because we needed extra money. It's not only a shopping mall and a car park garage, but the costs are enormous when you make a landscape on top. The second layer of the city of Rotterdam, Rotterdam would give money if we were succeeding in the fact that we created jobs. And then a few million after the municipality came. And then there was a local the part municipality because the whole orthodon chops into different local entities. Delfshaven, that's the name of the, the area around. That's a municipality on its own. They could give money if we had local support, if, the people were felt involved and if they had the feeling that it was also their design and their wish. So those three levels were very important to get all the money. The roof park itself costs about, 12 million, the trees and the layer of soil and the valve, the facilities. But then the roof itself of the building underneath had to be much more heavy, more concrete, more steel in it to carry the weight of the earth and the trees and so on.

So that's why we needed extra money. So that meant that I had to do the process very close to the the people living around. So we organized every Wednesday meeting in a local house close to the Dakpark where, where they could walk in during the design process. In fact, there were meetings, all kind of points, but we were there with our drawing tables and so they could reach us very easy.

And then there was a meeting and sometimes a discussion. But we worked there every week. That's pretty unique, but normally you get an assignment offer. Contract of a municipality or a developer. Then you make the design and sometimes you presented to people, then there are some things you have to change and that's it. But here, the whole idea was because the people were already involved. They were already being asked, what are the most important points? If we make a park, what should be in it? So they make, they had a list of 10 demands. They wanted to have thousand trees. They wanted to have one meter of soil. They wanted Intimacy. So all kind of things they wanted. So they were already pretty involved and they got the opportunity to make the decision, which architect do we want here to be? The designer and there was a very good office out Utrecht.

They asked the question, why are you designing this? And they answered. I heard it later. Oh, we want to be in the magazines. And I didn't know because I was one hour later and they asked me, why are you doing this? And then I said, oh, I am totally not interested to be in the booklets or the magazines.

I want, if I walk there and park has realized that you are satisfied because it's a very local, maybe it's a big thing, but the meaning is the functional meaning is pretty local and it's for the neighborhoods there and, and the stepping stone to the arm area on the opposite side. Okay. But 90% of the importance of the thing is the local improvement on the quality. So it's for you. And and that answer, maybe there are some more points, but I can remember they liked that answer that I didn't want to be in, in Renaissance. But I wanted that they were satisfied at the end of the whole process.

And that's really true. Nevertheless, I came in a lot of magazines with this design because it's pretty unique, it's very big, the one km long and very narrow, and it's on top of a building. And that still the parking garage. So there's maybe a thousand parking places. I don't know exactly, but it's still pretty empty inside. One of the things is it was the backside of Rotterdam with the infrastructure and the dead ending ends of the train and and petrol stations and all kind of early things. The, harbor area on the west side, they are being developed into dwellings. So all the ship activities are going away and it would be more and more city. So making a quality step is turning the backside of infrastructure and sss into a kind of stepping stone a front side, the green where the city can orientate on so that in fact, that's the most important urban meaning of the implementation of a quality space like that.

Interviewer: Okay. So the biggest motivation you had, as I understood, is to provide something to the local community that would satisfy their interests, their and their needs.

Interviewee: Yeah, because I know the process, because everyone wants to, feed the ducks and simple things. And if they want intimacy on top of a roof park, there's always wind there.

You cannot make it intimacy. So, I know the process of listening very good to what's in their mind. We didn't plant thousand trees because then you have a forest, not a park. So we sometimes you don't have to take the things too literally, but you have to take the people seriously.

And then you try to, why are they saying this? And then can you imagine that we do it like this? And then can you imagine we do it like that? And if you make open field, you can Work with a kite in the air because the wind is nice. And if you are have a place where you can overlook the whole city, that's very nice.

And in the distance you can see all the big buildings and so on. So that then you have the opportunity to explain the unique qualities of a lifted part like that. And so, and, and if you are in the process of talking about it, then they accept you as a professional. I know what I'm doing and I'm not afraid of listening, I'm not afraid that I draw something someone else shouts. I'm gonna draw that. No, that's not, not a way. It's too simple. So that doesn't work like that. So I also became aware that listening and trying to understand what they meant was 50% of the work. And then of course, then I make the drawing, then I.

Also do this. And if it's, and it's not that big, you can, they also want a tennis court. So they wanted far too much things in it. And if you plan everything full, there's no flexibility, then you can't organize bigger markets and all kind of other things. So we have had all kind of discussions like that.

But the nice thing is Rotterdam is very Quicken a lot of things quicker than Amsterdam. They made a choice for me in the evening at 11 o'clock. And they said tomorrow morning at six o'clock there was a big bus going to Paris. And then we gonna. We take the whole neighborhoods with us. All, all kinds of different people from all parts of the world living there, and some politicians, a few bureaucrats.

But most of them were just very Connected people who wanted that roof park also. So I had to pack my suitcase and I didn't sleep that well. And we went to Paris to see all kind of examples. There is a high line in Paris. There is a station going to Bordeaux where on top of the station itself, there's complete roof park.

We went to LA. It's an important statement of making a nice program, public space. So we saw all the highlights in one city, the Paris, together to create a common reference image, what you can make of it. Because if you looked on the place it was 20 years ago, it was empty space with rusty rail tracks and fences and so on. For a lot of people it's difficult to understand that, if you want, you can make something as a roof park, a building, and then a park on top. So and you, you are together and you know each other. All the different groups of people and you can just chat about what you see.

You have a journey a few days, four days, I think, something like that. And that's a very nice start of the design process. And the complexity is that you start with an urban plan. So that's pretty abstract. You do it with the main planners of the municipality. Then there was about stakeholders.

It was absolutely not clear. There were, I think eight or 10 railway tracks. They were that far that they could skip a few tracks. Within the middle there should stay two tracks. So then we had a very narrow, onsight is dyke, then there's the railroad track, and then you have a very small long line, also green.

So it's defined it into two linear strips, and I hated that idea because you can better skip the train. It's dead end. And there's a lot of train system in Rotterdam. And if you ask the railway people, can you miss it? And they say, no, it's the beginning of the betterland going to Germany.

So we cannot miss it. But if you constantly repeat can you get rid of it? And if you make the drawing, what you can make of it when there's no track in the middle of that park And that's much more space now you can football on top of the, of the park. And still it's only 80 meters wide or 60.

It's not that wide. But, but yeah, so that's how it started. And for me, the local people were very important. So we did from the big scale to the details, it was process of years. So I made urban plan. Then we developed a kind of starting points, and I did the preliminary design.

Preliminary design is, is the most important design stadium. Together with them, the municipalities responsible for the technical design. So they, they detailed my preliminary design. So and there were pretty much people involved.

Interviewer: So the key stakeholders in this was the municipality, the residents, the local community?

Interviewee: Yeah, absolutely, their presence was very important.

Interviewer: Any other construction company?

Interviewee: Yeah, the railway company. But don't forget the Rijkswaterstaat. Because the dike system when there is high tide in the sea and there's a dam in the water, which can be go down in closer to the sea itself, but when that breaks, the salt water will come into the center of water damm.

So and there is a dike. It's a working dike, on one side of the park, the eastern side. So if the salt water is coming. Then still there is a functional dike in the, in the Dakpark integrated. So the water people and the government about water, they were very important. They were very strict.

They said, you cannot plant, squeezing the dike because if a tree falls down there's a gap and then the water streams in. So we could in a certain line not make foundation for fences and so on in the dike. We couldn't plant trees in the dike, because it's dyke. So they were very important as a stakeholder.

And then it was better the idea that there was also a guy, don know, if you call it the stakeholder, but there was a quality guy, we call it supervision guy who was dealing about the general quality. So I was just working with everyone a little bit, bureaucrats, the people living there and, the more technical people.

But then there was a kind of supervision with the Batang it all man. And he was the one who could say this is quality or this is not quality, and especially the integration of architecture. And logical roots and landscape and the way you make a real integrated plan. That was his topic.

And that's good because I designed a lot with the architects of the developer. Where are the lifts? How do we enter the building? Can we have a little constructions on the living side? I didn't want to, I only wanted to have landscape. How can we yeah avoid that. There will be pipes going through the roof and, and so on and so on, but normally, You end in a fight with architects.

And then it's important that there is someone who is above the parties, not as a designer, but as a decision maker. So we go this way of this is a good idea. We stop this. So, so that's the way it was organized. And so first you have to make content. You have to explain and get with the public. You have to solve problems with the bureaucrats and the technical people.

And at the end there's someone kind of person from above who can say yes or no and then tell a certain time. Then he was. He was, he got another job, he disappeared, and then there was no supervision anymore. But this project, I started to do it in 2003, I think. I'm not completely sure. I think it's the selection.

We designed it. The preliminary design at the end, we did in 2006 or seven. Then they made a technical preparation and the whole thing was, it was an economical crisis at that time and it was a severe crisis. There was no money in the, it was not just in the banking system. And so developers couldn't organize money and they all went bankrupt in that time.

So I thought, This is typically a project which is not going to be built because it's very expensive, a lot of extra costs and the crisis was severe. But, the strange thing is because of all the different layers and all the appointments we made and the enthusiasm of the process, the opposite happened. It was being built during the crisis.

Interviewer: Oh I thought that this would lag the project.

Interviewee: That's the very typical. The strange thing is that...I don't know the English word for it. We met a group of people who could easily talk with us about design possibilities choices lists of demands. And some people are not suitable for going through all those design steps, but others are. And [00:18:00] so we selected a group of about 40 people. This, the group we invited every Wednesday afternoon to go to the place we rented at the edge of the Dakpark. But the group is not one group. The, person's changed. The average time people live in that part of Rotterdam is only one year. You live there one year and then you go away. I don't know. Why so quickly? It's not the best part of Rotterdam. There's a lot of

Interviewer: Yeah, they call it like a slum.

Interviewee: So at the end there were totally different people than the beginning. And a lot of people don't understand that it takes such a long time. To make all those steps because of the ns. The railway company was complicated and the water people were complicated, so it, it lasts pretty long and some people.. You have to think very positively to make a nice process and lot of people, it's easier for a lot of people to disagree.

You draw something and they, "oh, I don't like it". But thinking more positive is difficult. And some people were very negative. They didn't believe in it at all. They saw all kind of problems. The biggest prostitution area of Rotterdam was close by... now it's closed.

They were the drugs addict prostitutes. So when it's. Nighttime it's completely chaos there. So that's a bit the atmosphere where we develop this area. And so the big discussion was when it's dark, we need a fence around the park. But because you cannot imagine it's safe when you walk there in the dark, the police cannot see from the cars what's going on in the park.

So everyone was convinced we need to have a fence with which we, we can close off. In certain periods of the [00:20:00] day. And that was because of the, yeah, the harsh conditions of the the drugs problems and the prostitution problems who were there in the surroundings. And then, yeah, it's stupid, but.

I wanted to have more functions in the restaurants and so on. Restaurants will be open at night. So we had to think when the restaurants are open, when the public goes out where are the fence and how can they go in and out and can they walk in the park? But you can see in the glass, in the middle, that's the restaurant.

Yeah. It works less or more. And then the other thing is I don't think they close the fence. I'm not co they closed the fence in the first years, but I'm not sure whether they close it now. Closing off public green is normal in England and sometimes in France, in the big cities in England is, is pretty normal that a lot of parks in London and other cities are private.

And then there's a fence around and then it's, it's of somebody, but here it's public.

Interviewer: I think from my last visit to the park, I had the opportunity to discuss with some volunteers from the neighborhood, and I think they told me that they are responsible for opening and closing the fence.

Interviewee: They're doing it. I designed, so in intimacy was a big theme, so the human tail and not too big and so on. So I introduced the idea to make three gardens that Mediterranean garden with a glasshouse, a play garden and a neighborhood garden neighborhood for vegetables and chicken and sheep and so on.

And then there's the intimacy. On the slopes and you make the nice surroundings with all kind of things. And then if you are outside the garden, you are, it's more extra far, you can see the city. And then it's more, more open and wide. So I, choose that contrast. And I think it's nice that if you don't go to a restaurant, you want to sit outside, you're not in a huge space, but something in between.

And that was a choice. So, and there's a choice I made, I did the, the proposal, but then the discussion starts with the people who wanted in intimacy and instead what they meant. And then the supervision guy who wanted romantic shapes. I didn't want, I didn't want to make it because I said it's building with a slope.

So it's more a dyke park. Linear and on a certain angle, different angle maybe, but a bit like a dyke. So the language of shape should be related to that phenomenon a bit. So, you have all kind of discussions. And sometimes you think if you're a designer, it's nice to make you have an idea, you make something, you make a nice drawing, and then that's the design.

Sometimes it is in the process, but the problem is you have to talk about it. You have to convince the supervision. You have to convince maybe you know, the there's a control mechanism in Holland, which controls the quality of architecture and also the quality of public space. That's a certain layer in the municipality.

You have to convince them. What you are doing, what you're proposing, and that's more on the level of professionals. So the discussions are very basic, but sometimes you have a nice agreement with the local people and then you come to the wellstone and then they say, can, can you make a bit more organic shapes or something, which you already passed, you already had the discussion.

You have the idea that you most of the people nodes in the same direction. And then there's someone who is disturbed with some power, some influence, and then you have to deal with it. So, that's, for a designer that's problematic because it doesn't have [00:24:00] too much to do with creativity. It more with how handy are you in between people and how can you yeah.

Go through all the. All different problem people... So, but , that takes a lot of energy and when you walk through the park and you see the simple parts and sometimes a tree, then you "think that's not so simple to get on a drawing and have an idea like that." But yeah, most of the energy is the acceptance, and then all the layers where you have to go through too.

Because everyone wants to have a kind of power also in the, in the organization of the municipality. And then it must still be a design if you listen to it, to all the opinions and you do a little bit like this and a little bit like this. Yeah. Then it's..

Interviewer: You need to balance.. May I ask you what, what were the motivations of the municipality to do this park?

Interviewee: Now there was discussion in the urban planning group of the municipality. There was one group who said, you cannot make mono functional. Area lifted from the ground. Then you get a they have a big shopping mall in the south of Rot terdam which doesn't function after six o'clock because it's two more functional, it's only shopping and two, two less dwellings two little dwellings and so on.

No multi, multi-functional areas. You have to do combination. Combination of living and, and then a little bit of green. And there was a group of bureaucrats partly the as Simon who said, let's make a February. Convincing concept of a green as as it is. So there was a kind of struggle. I had to present my ideas also in the whole organization of urban planning

and then you got the whole discussion again. It's not good to make more functional area like that. You have to make more mixed function, all kind of urban functions and green, but not green functions too big. So, the problem. Yeah. You assignment give is a bit like a dragon with a lot of heads.

It's not one opinion. And so that was also a little bit difficult. So, but I'm, I'm landscape architect, I like to make my assignments as green as possible, it's in me. So I, I thought it was my task to create a spacial green environment. I proposed a school on one side of the park, the north side, close to the Marconi Towers because I said only then we make a kind of point of a ship and then we can make a type of school.

There was one school that was looking for a new place to have 1600 students. They're pretty big, and I thought, oh, that's a good idea. Then we have a kind of multi functionalism the school on top on of the very edge of the park. It's then the park is filled with students during daytime. It can be problematic, but social control is the best thing you can have.

And then the other side, now they, they are developing in the south southwest side, the deepen vein area. They are making an integration. There is some old building structure, some monuments are there. There will be an being made in the park in the park. But they are going to build on top just above the nine meters high park level houses.

So there will be a area where there's integration of living and recreation somewhere. I like that they didn't make the school and the other point, maybe it'll be there. There, there is space enough they can make it if they want. Maybe it's, it's a matter of waiting. But in fact that was the idea. With some urban functions. Yeah.

Interviewer: And how did you incorporate the, the aspect of flood protection, flood resilience to your designs?

Interviewee: if you look.. I don't know if you've seen the drawings if you look in the sections on one side of the slope there's a, on the street side, there's, there's a wall where the shops are straight to the other side is more soft, more dy ke like, and then it, and then there's a horizontal piece. There's the urban heating system going through, and then there is a little dyke going down, and that's the real dke. It's only a few meters higher than the roads that's three meters higher than the road.

The roof park's nine meters high, but that's building, so if the sea is high, the whole roof park will be salt water till the feet on the east side. Where, the real dyke, because the whole volume of the dike is still there. You can walk on top.. And we made a kind of hedge and a fence and so on.

But it's still a dyke. So when the water will come that high, hopefully it'll never happen. But if then the whole building will, its, and the parking garage will fill itself with water till Dyke. That's a strange idea, that's the ultimate edge of Holland. So a lot of infrastructure in Rotterdam, most of the buildings are made in polders.

That's the structure of Rotterdam and then the infrastructure is a little, yeah, less and more outside the polders, the main infrastructure, the bigger roads and so on. So that's why Rotterdam is a bit divided in, in completely different living areas, because the living areas are built in polders and the infrastructure is around.

It's difficult to explain, but it is less. More is, it's true. So also the dike park. So the building itself is outside a polder. All the houses of Boss polder are in the polder. It's also the name Bosh polder . And that's typically Rotterdam.

Interviewer: And do you think that during the, discussions, the decision making that the community and the other stakeholders, Were aware of the environmental benefits of this project that , your design would provide.

Interviewee: Yeah. It depends who you ask explaining that if you make, if you a city extension, do you know Amsterdam? Yeah. There was the, the old city in the canal structure and then, and then end of the 19th century, they have to go over the defense system of the old city.

And and they wanted to keep the rich people less or more connected to the city because, because all the canals were very dirty and there were a lot of industry in between the house, everything was very

dirty. The problem was that the, that rich people went to their houses along the rivers and the estates and the manir and so on.

So they, they invented the idea of vondelpark, you know, the famous of Amsterdam still. And the whole idea is that you create a lush environment, very green with water and trees. And luxury houses, which you can see on one side of the formal park to, to make it possible that in the extension of Amsterdam, there will be new qualities because you cannot extend all the canals because they are not functional anymore.

But, so you have to think of other things. So making green to create quality, clean air and so on was already done in the Vondelpark . And you can compare it a little bit with the roof park. Because there will be city expansion extension. So extension a lot of houses, very dense. It were backsides of the industrial area, backside of the living areas.

We want to create front sides. You have, to have quality, green quality, a front side quality and, , and to explain that to. People who wants to feed the ducks and want to have a, a send pitch for, for the children. They're not interested in the bigger idea. They only want that they can walk and stroll and people and so, and something to drink.

So you cannot explain everything. But when you have to convince the urban planning group and rather them what's the, the after all meaning if you put quality in a perfect space there, and that you can cross it also for all the directions. And if you develop the harbor area and you want to have Saw through the green, then you go to the green area.

So it is good for the new urban areas and the existing areas. So there you can have that discussion. You cannot have the discussion with the rail company about urban qualities. It's only a matter of yes or no. Can you skip it? And so, and The water people who are managing the di and protection of the city, they are not completely interested in the, the, the after all meaning of making such a big green area on that spot.

So, yeah, that, that makes it difficult. . It's not one, one message you can use on different spots. Yeah, it's, , that's the problem of stakeholders. They have their reasons , to want something or want something not, and then it's a matter of you know, who's the strongest and and convincing other people with visions.

Yeah, you can explain that you have a vision and then there will be the fight, yes or no. And do you want to skip your ideas because we want to make this. And then fis is fight. It's often the, the beginning of explanation where you want to go to.. But that's more the, the more [00:34:00] technical stakeholders.

I didn't do myself, all the talking with water management people, because that's the, the people from municipality water them did it because that's a talking process of years. It's impossible for a designer to do that. I, for me, talking is very important, but when it's getting very bureaucratic And the kind of power play in between all kind of bureaucratic organizations.

Yeah. It's not good for designers. So, so the other people did, did that process and it was, I didn't know whether it should end could we integrate a diet like I proposed? I didn't know. And could we get rid of the railway tracks in the middle? It was a big question. But, but the result is good.

So everything started with a good idea and a nice drawing and the co Marquette and an enthusiasm . At the beginning there's only the idea and without drawings and And yeah. Bird eye perspectives there's no way you have to make, yeah, you have to work on the imagination of people.

And if there's something nice going to be made is there's a kind of promise in the air then and the morning will follow a bit more easy.

Interviewer: Yeah. And did you observe any. Resistance or skepticism for mostly the like bureaucratic stakeholders for your plans?

Interviewee: The problem is it is quite a honor to design something like that.

The in the municipality there were people wanted to design the park themselves and not me. And, and they had to work together with me as a colleague or a clunk board, how do you say it? Reference so you do the talking, but you can feel that they rather had done a themselves.

That's also, that is always a bit problematic if they are also designers. But some designers choose the, the path of going to municipality or more on the national level, and then you are going to be in a talking process. Most of the work you do is talking with other urban planners and landscape and traffic people. It's talking, talking, and it's not designing. And I've a design firm. I have 16 people design making

drawings, doing proposals, and then we talk about the proposals and, and the visions and the concepts. But we are not in a series of meetings. Most of the time. We are just creating something and immediate we talk about it.

And so that's why we are able. To design rather quickly ideas in, in different situations because we are going to the computer. We normally, I don't work on the computer myself. I do it with sketch paper. And when we, and in the office, we start with. When, when, when the solution is not clear, we start just with a discussion on the table, which catch paper, and then we say, oh, what kind of relations are important and how can we do this?

And what's, and what kind of ideas do we have? And then you can give pretty easily your first reaction on the. List of demands or the assignments. And then sometimes we have some examples of other projects who are very interesting for a certain project. So that's a, we start with a creative idea, talking and sketching, and then there will be a process of making section, and we need to computer and making plans and all kind of technical things.

Mm-hmm. But at the office we Yeah, we, we do workshops like that, creative workshops as short as possible. Sometimes 10 minutes, sometimes half an hour. But when it's longer, it's starting to be a meeting. And a meeting is sometimes a bit too dull and Yeah, then everyone wants to create, and sometimes we have one problem and three ideas, different persons, and then we have a discussion which idea is the best and how can we follow a certain line in what we are going to do.

So in our office, a lot of, also for the roof park, which gets a lot of different ideas. So because it's, if you are a designer, sometimes people think that you draw at once the, the final. Solution, but that, that isn't true. Sometimes you go a bit to the left and you make something like this, and sometimes after a few after period you think, no, it's not the best way.

We, we have to go back to where we started and we have to, you go to the right, but to the center, to, to enter any other so I think hesitation is a very good quality. If you don't, s if you are very sure of yourself, you, you don't give space to[00:39:00] think it over what you are doing. And so if you do something you.

Say it's very firmly, then you think that's the only way. But in fact, there are also other possibilities and sometimes you have to be open for that. So hesitation, I think it's a quality in the design process that you say, oh, we can do this, but there is an alternative and you can also do that, and then you get this. So. I think it's important to keep this in a certain period that there are more ways going to wrong than only the one way. So working in different possibilities. But on a certain moment when the preliminary design is coming, you should go to one design because otherwise you cannot make two designs and so, so at the end it must be one.

Yeah, but not too, not too early.

Interviewer: Okay. And for the case of DakPark did it happen that the stakeholders changed the, the original plan you had in mind? How did you incorporate their feedback or suggestions to the plan? To the design?

Interviewee: Yeah. And let's have a look. There was, of course, the builders, the developer of the building underneath, they they were struggling also.

They were, the problem was there is parking space underneath for the inhabitants of Bo Polar. So parking your car and walking through your house daily. He, he said, that must be safe. And so in fact,

the developer wanted stairs and entrance buildings on the east side of the park where the s slopes were.

I didn't want it. I, I said, I want Ady scape. And then the buildings you see are beyond of the harbor and the city, but no functional buildings like that. So we had a discussion, so they are not there. So I want that specific point, but I try to remember what kind of things

now making enough stairs at the roadside where the wall is that you can. Go from the ground level without going through the shops to the part that is reachable from that site. That was very important. Mm-hmm. The urban planners urge that point very well, and I don't know whether there's enough possibility from the west side to enter the party.

East side's. Okay. I just made all kind of. Slopes and stairs for leading from the city streets into the, in the roof park with the west side where, where the walls or the shops did. The accessibility of the lifted park is not that good. So I. Yeah, people pointed out that there are, they're in the middle and where the glasshouse is, there's elevator and stairs.

So you can without going through the buildings, you can reach the park at the north side. You can just, there's a, a bit low you can walk off in, in the Southwest side is now being changed into the more living area where the all time is going to be. So there will be also A, a corridor through the park that you can also easily enter the park from the west side.

And, but that's has to be built. It's not there yet.

Interviewer: Oh. But it was incorporated in the designs.

Interviewee: Yeah. We had already drawn and designed, we, we didn't draw that many houses in a design. We only kept. A kind of historical ensemble on the south. Nice little building. Some functional building, typically Rotterdam.

And then we, we expected that there will be artists in it and so on. So, but, but some of those buildings went down and we plant the, the, the sh the overhang. In one corner, but there was no reason enough to build overtime. But now there is. So now's the moment that that part will be better finished.

That's on the, the south side of the part. And so you see that the big structure, but a lot of program is not built at once. And so I missed the school at the other end. Some very busy urban thing on top of the park. The south by south side is okay when there will be more houses. So there are social control also in the evening.

And you can see Australia, even you are in the green that you see all kind of Yeah. Lights of the living rooms and so on that you see people moving. So the, the, the whole isolation of that park will be a lesson more gone. Because I think that's important. I like parks where. Yeah, well, the program, I made a park in Amsterdam, [00:44:00] but there, I, I made two restaurants in it vegetarian restaurants and a very chic restaurants in all the states.

But so the good thing is that you create a lot of Yeah. People movements and eyes which can see what's happening there. So, yeah, in Dutch is the, I don't know the English word for it. In Dutch we call it the CRE factor. So if you are close to an hill, you see all kind of little end running.

And I like if there are people in the park, I think there's a lot of ants. People in a park and they have a kind of control what's happening there. I think that's good. So you also need a certain amount of people in a park. When a park's too empty, then it's not a good space. Mm-hmm.

Interviewer: Yeah. And my, my last question looking back, do you believe that the.

Collaborative design process influenced the, the stakeholders overall acceptance as support for the project?

Interviewee: Yeah, I think so. Especially we are working together with the with local people, and I then don't think, normally, I don't call them stakeholders. I always communicate with The, the inhabitants, the people, and then there are the stakeholders.

There are big organization with a certain role in the area, so that, that's what I call stakeholders. But in fact, you can also say, okay, the the, the people themselves are the most important stakeholders. So

they had their lists of demands, the thousand trees and the long meter of soil and all the kind, the whole list.

Yeah, I think I listen very properly to to them. And then yeah, I think that that's fair. And the other stakeholders, we had to convince them the in essence of that they. Stop being there. That's difficult[00:46:00] situation and, and the dyke people went to, we had to accept that it's a technical dikes and we couldn't do a lot of things with it.

We could plant trees on it. Okay. Yeah, so we listened. What was not possible on where they were, were about And then the city heating system was also there. We made a kind of path on top with a tile where there was, there's the words heat of warm water in it or something that you explain a little bit why there is something there.

There's a big, where big part of of them is and then that's also integrated close to the summit of the the dike. Yeah, that's a matter of integration. So so you have to yeah, you have to work together. And then about architecture. I didn't make the architecture. There were all architects who made the facade and shopping and, and the garage.

What kind of fence? I wanted that kind of balcony feeling, the kind of open structure where the wind blows through. But other people said, no, there's so much wind. We have to make a a, a railing where the, the wind is partly blocked. And I said, it's not good because if you're on the street and there's green on the roof, that you don't see the green, the green is not given quality enough back to the street.

Because there is less and more closed structure in between. And you can see if you go through the movement that it's a pretty, it's, it's a kind of played with little holes in it. So you can partly look through it, but it blocks the wind and it makes possible that the straps and so on could grow more easy.

But at the other hand, if you're on the street level and you look up, you don't see that much green. And sometimes I think if, if a roof park, there must be a kind of invitation. So the trees must ask you to come and they must be there also, that you can see it from the street. So we are all kind of this, so maybe that point I didn't get my the idea of very transparent illustrate.

But, but you can see that this is what it is has been. Mm-hmm. And then, yeah, so the the, the fence or the bas strait, is it architecture or is it landscape architecture? So it does, the architect has certain role, or is my role more important? So it's more the mix of it. So for me, it was very important that we make a real welcoming outside the fence, more, less, more floating in the air.

In the middle, we, you, you can step outside the building and then you are above the street. And then that's, that's that's pretty nice because then you can look back. Then you see actually the walls of the shoppings. So you can look back a little bit. You look down then you understand the building better. Then you see that it is a building with a function underneath. Yeah. Interviewer: Yeah, I observed that myself last Saturday.

Interviewee: Ah, yeah. A nice warm day then last Saturday. Ooh.

Interviewer: Yes. And I also had the opportunity to participate in the workshop that the community does for the gardening and the maintenance of the gardens. Oh, nice. Yes. Yeah, it was very nice.

Interviewee: Yeah. Oh, this is nice.

Interviewer: As a visitor, I really enjoyed it.

Interviewee: Oh, very good. Yeah, but it was a very hot day. Yeah. I think personally, if I look back to the design of the park, I plant more scattered trees. I think 10 or 23. Are dead. So they removed the [00:50:00] trees and I didn't see the renewance of the trees.

So I personally think I cannot plant a thousand trees, but I miss 20 or 30 trees. It's sometimes a bit too open for me. And so if I've done it, if I get now the opportunity to design a roof park on a place like that,

I would. Make more layer green, more trees, more thread, more perennials, more volume, more in the three D aspect of green.

And I like the idea of dike. Dike is grass and then I, that's the trees and the lining and the stairs on it. And it's the architecture of the, the landscape that that choice I made. But yeah, more trees. And if some trees died and the problem is not as big now, pretty key essential trees. We bought some trees and met so big they died and they are not going to be replaced.

And I've no influence in, I cannot found someone asking Can you replace tree in the position That doesn't work like that. I hope that if people think that they have to, to, to replant more trees, then I think local people has to come to the elderly men and ask, can you plant more trees in the park as originally designed?

Or maybe I didn't design enough trees when I should have done it now I should make more dense, more dense vegetation.

Interviewer: But do you think that would increase significant, the costs?

Interviewee: And the one meter is there some place. We have only 60 centimeters where the trees are, it's, it's a bit bigger. We planted the trees on top of column structure or wall structure underneath the weight of the trees and are a bit going into the construction. You can't see it if you want there, but we had to find out where you can plant, do more heavy things know everything is possible, but yeah, we made the roof so thick of concrete and steel, so I hope we can, we could have one meter or so everywhere, but in fact, that was too expensive. The extra cost are more than 20 million of making the roof destroyers. So it's a lot of money for Holland. Holland is always a question. If something costs money, what do, what's the gain of it?

And then if there are a few extra trees, it's not enough. And then they skip the 20 million, they make 10 million of it. A [00:01:00] little bit around that. And then how can we improve the, the the heaviness of the rope and it can bury, carry, sorry, carry all the soil on top. At that point, I'm making a lot of roof gardens.

And now the, the whole system of how do you prefer the water when it's raining. In fact water's always a problem on the roof situation when it's raining. If the water doesn't go away, the plant's rot. And then they're going to die because of oxygen stress. But yeah, now we have already five or six week of no rain in Holland.

So then you need a kind of water close by the old roots of plants. So the plants in one time, I proposed a water shell stretch here, kind of. Hollow area where the water could collect underneath the soil, where the roots could pick up the water. And but it was very, it didn't exist in 2006.

Certainly not on that scale. There was, in Germany there was something possible, but they skipped the whole technical aspect of making buffering layer on top of the roof. The building just underneath the soil. So we use granulate and Little Stones. The stones can have some water around a hundred liters every square meter.

It absorbs it less or more. So it will stay okay, one or two weeks. But when it's too long dry, they have to water the trees by hand. And, you are not sure that they're doing that on the right moment? So now I only design gardens where I know there's money enough to make the water buffering system underneath this.

And if there's a lack of money, the borderline is around 200 euros a square meter. Then I say then I'm not a designer because then it won't be working. But that's, that's what I learned of roof park.

Interviewer: Yeah, I saw that a big part of the grass was yellow now due to the drought. And I was wondering how, well, if it's not raining, how it's maintained. .

Interviewee: In fact, this choice, you can decide as municipality to keep the grass everywhere green. Then you'll have to do the. I dunno how you do it with grass. Sometimes there are CHS in the Gulf Track, they do it underneath the soil with little pipes.

But normally you do it like farmers. They're spread out of what's in the, and then got mill or something. They're doing that on the roof. But I think they decided to water trees so only on local points And they. Except that the grass will yellow during dry periods. If there is a week of rain, every yellow grass will turn into green. that's a maintenance decision. You can also decide to keep it green, then you'll have to water it every day. And there's a durability problem with it costs a lot of energy and clean water. So, that's a choice. But in practice that yellow grass like that is within one week okay. So in the end of the summer and the rest of the year, it's green till the drought periods. The drought periods is something of the last years. We hadn't had a series of three years with three months of drought from April, May, and June. Coincidentally, this spring was pretty wet till the beginning of May.

So that's why the grass, it's, it's very high and the, the trees grow very well. Well, the trees are doing still very well because the roots are deep. But the grass and the perennials they suffered the droughts.

Interviewer: Yes. I guess at that time you couldn't predict the climate conditions after 10, 15 years.

Interviewee:

Yeah.. Climate adaptation is not the biggest thing, you know, my profession. So why do you where the Gulf of water and how can, what's the system of water and the biodiversity and creating coolness with shade. So that's the theme of the last 10 years, 10, 15 years. But the roof board was before that. So I know that it's. It's cooling with trees. I know that it was there, but it was not a selling point. It's not a way of, you explained your design with treating that themes.. no one did it at that time, we were sure that if you make a plan's better to use different species, there's more chance for all kind of little insects and so on.

So it's more that you are used to think like that. You don't explain your plan with it. Now we explain the plan with it. You do a strip like this because then you get that insect and if you make a combined strip, you can expect nest of birds in it. And so, and in fact you make the same designs. And then you can explain differently.

Interviewer: Okay. I don't want to take more of your time. You, you covered a lot of my questions, actually, all of them. Thank you. Thank you very much for, for your time.

Interviewee: Yeah, I hope you success with your master studies...
Appendix D

Interview with Volunteers of the Dakpark

Interviewer: Shall we begin? First of all, can I have your permission to record this discussion? All the information that you will give will be treated confidentially. It will be strictly used for the research. And then, it'll be deleted. Also, it will be anonymous.

So first of all, could you please describe to your role and tasks in the design process of the Dakpark?

Volunteer A: When I came to live here in the neighborhood in 2005, there was a group of people talking about the plans for the park with all the neighbors. There was a project leader paid by the city who arranged meetings for the plans. And the oldest people of a safe park with gates. And we talked about the diversity of planting.

Interviewer: So you were involved as a volunteer, as a local resident of the area.

Volunteer A: Yeah.

Interviewer: And were you participating in the discussions?

Volunteer A: Yeah.

Interviewer: So, what was your motivation to participate in this process? Did you have any specific interests?

Volunteer A: I think nature is important for cities and, nature can be beautiful to recreate, but also for education for the children, that they can see where the apple spears grow. Not in the supermarket, but in the trees. And, yeah, I wanted a greener city.

Interviewer: So you wanted a nice area for you and also for the rest of the community.

And, how would you describe your level of involvement in the design process? Were you actively contributing to it? Did you share your ideas and were you comfortable in doing that?

Volunteer A: Yeah, but it was arranged, the discussions were arranged by the, uh, project manager of, of the city, and then there was a meeting. I tried to always be there and my ideals in the discussion, but I was not, extra, active to do more than, was arranged.

Interviewer: What challenges or obstacles did you face during your involvement in the design process? If there were any challenges.

Volunteer A: The different visions about public green. This neighborhood had to do with challenges of.. It was not a safe neighborhood. So people were afraid a park could be a place where people can hide, prostitutes can work, and junks.. So a lot of people had a lot of trouble with junks' hangouts, robberies..

Interviewer: So there were people that didn't want the park?

Volunteer A: They want the park, but a very safe park. So with the gates. Now there are gates or a fence, I have to say the fence and the gates. And the fence is in the green. And we worked, we brought ideas that the fence, apart where the fence is , is not nice. So we said, we make shrubs, so the fence didn't have to be so high. You can't climb over because of the shrubs that are pretty. So we tried to make a combination of a safe fence, but also the green and biodiversity for the insects and a nice view. And in the park, you see a lot of, green meadows. You can look, a kilometer long. People want, no shrubs in the park or no bushes for safety.

Interviewer: Okay, so the main difficulty was the competing ideas you had with the others for the park.

Volunteer A: Everyone wanted the park.

Interviewer: But in a different way.

Volunteer B: The more people you have, the more ideas you have. So you have to make a choice which one is available, which one is payable, how much, how much interest is for that object

Interviewer: And, were there any factors that, uh, hindered your participation in the, at the design process? That make you feel like, okay, I don't want to be part of this, I don't like that we have competing ideas. Was there any case like that?

Volunteer A: No. It was on a typical Dutch basis poldermodel. You know what polder model is?

Volunteer B: There are several kinds of interest groups. Well, sometimes they want the same things but sometimes groups are standing against each other. So then you try to, to balance. We give you something, I get something from you. So that's what we call polder. So you get something. You can only get it when I get something too. So you put some water into the wine.

Interviewer: But that didn't make you stop participating?

Volunteer B: No, because we had to win something if we didn't.. You get something, If I get something in return too. So you put some water into the wine. It's not bad, but also not good. But it's just, well, common.

Interviewer: Okay. And, how was communication facilitated among you and the other stakeholders during the design process?

Can you describe me? A meeting, a consultation, meeting, or collaboration activity?

Volunteer B: All the ideas were together, so they make a big line of it and we get a report of it, and we were discussing about this, this, this, and this, this, the conclusion. And on that basis, we continue the next following, meeting.

Interviewer: How often did you have these meetings?

Volunteer A: Once a month. Once a month. They called it Dakpark Cafe. And the cafe is for, it's not only heavy talk, but also nice to meet and see the plans and they were all these move boards and things. And, yeah, okay. Informal talk with each other. So it was not only hardworking or hard discussion, but looked nice to go there and one of the first things we did for, I think was, not a 10 commands from the

Bible but seven comments. But, as a statement we want for this park, and it was called safety and it was green. And when this park is filled, there shall be green, there shall be, playground for the children. There shall be place to meet, shall be possible for social participation. For the biodiversity, but at that time, not as high, it's 14 years ago..

Volunteer A: It's 50 years ago Interviewer: You were not so much aware of this, of the environmental

Volunteer B: we were but the point of view of the local government wasn't that high. That for a while it can wit, well, it, it's not that big issue, but people who are doing an environment, they know what the best situation and the condition is. So they will agenda every time we need to do it. We need to develop these things..

Interviewer: But there were not, any people from any kind of environmental agency involved?

Volunteer B: Well, not that much, no. Now it's more, well, more agenda. So it's a higher level now. So when we're talking about the same situation, I guess I will support. Because of the climate change, it's now more visible.

10 years ago, it was not, well, the climate change wasn't that big than these days.

Interviewer: Indeed.

Volunteer B: Yeah. So maybe it was a point of discussion, but a big one.

Volunteer A: Okay. It's difficult to understand now, but. It's, it's, we come from a long way.

Interviewer: Yeah. I understand. Do you feel your inputs and your ideas were well incorporated into the plans, in the final design?

Volunteer B: Sometimes. Cause they make decisions because they have the budget, how to spend it. So when the budget's already finished. "No, we can't do that. We just can do a little bit of that." So they already made the decisions. Then we find out what the decisions were. So we were not always happy with the decisions they took. Or how they took it.

Interviewer: Do you think that your contribution to the design of the park enhanced your understanding and appreciation of the project? Of the benefits that could bring to the area? Would you support it as an idea for future development in another area?

Volunteer B: Uh, every month we have a negotiation with people who are involved in this park. So we have our way, how we want to develop it, how to use it, but the local authorities say, "we already have made a plan for it. We don't want to change it, so let's stay the way we developed it." We talk every

day, every. Meeting up again. But the less they have to do to change the better it is for them.

We have our point of view, developing this area. Cause we are using it every week. And we are sitting with our feet on the ground. They're sitting on the desk, on the desk, on the screen. They have the theory, well that's how they figure it out. But when you are on the park, you get other information which not is the same when in theory.

Volunteer A: And the city is always, has to listen to the neighbors that complain. And there's always discussion about everything. Uh, the hedges we did today. Yeah, they hangovers. They hang over and they prickle. Neighbors, don't like it and complain to the city council. And then we have to..

Volunteer B: they will come with the machine straight away, one level, but that's not good for the biodiversity. So you need people to do it because they are more careful than know what to do, how to do it.

Interviewer: And did your, participation in the design of the park made you feel more responsible for it?

Volunteer B: We tried to convince the local authorities because we are every day here.

Interviewer: So you were, you were already feeling responsible for your neighborhood, then you thought, okay, we should do something nice for our neighborhood.

Volunteer A: Yeah. that's why the groin group started before the park was opened because the group of people, felt responsible for that becoming a nice park, a nice place to be. And keep it as good as it can be, by helping in gardening.

Volunteer B: Because it's so special. Because it's not a natural park. It's created. So you were presented as an extraordinary park, which is not usual, not common, but it has to be clear and, but open public for everyone. So it must be clean too, cause it's not a real, real park so you have to clean it up.

Interviewer: And, based on your experience, how important do you think that is for the stakeholders to have a say in the design of a community project like that, like Dakpark, do you think it's important?

Volunteer B: Yes, because if we don't talk about it with them, about the development of the park and how it should be the situation, then they will go they will follow their own way. So we have always to participate in the developing in the park. Otherwise it's just their party. We want to be a member of the party too. So we are the users. We are living in the neighborhood. They're sitting in the center, in the city hall. So they don't see often this park, maybe they never have seen it. So they're just behind the screen.

Interviewer: Do you remember which other stakeholders were involved? Like, architects? real estate company?

Volunteer B: Yes, yes, both of course.

Interviewer: Anyone else?

Volunteer A: The X that built the Park, and investors. Groups, well, how you call it, investing in the shops and in the restaurant.

Volunteer B: The shareholders from Germany. So if the local community want to change something, then they have to talk with the, Shareholder, "can we change that? Can we change that?" Cause we had a stair on the other side of the building and an elevator with it, for people who are moving with wheelchair, but the cage was too small. The, the wheelchair couldn't get in, so they spent 80,000 euro for it, and it was useless. So they have to take it away. So after a long discussion because there's only one stairway from here to the other side, or they have to the ends to walk around.

Interviewer: So you said it's a German?

Volunteer B: German investment group. So if something says, has to be changed on the park and the shareholder is, in this case, a German one. They have to ask him if it's allowed to build an elevator on the building on the other side. So when after a long discussion they agreed, well, you can build an elevator. But the one who built it didn't inform what kind of people will use it, and they didn't think well about the chair wheels. Yeah. So the cage was too small so no one could get in. So after two years they said, well, it's useless. Get it down. So how to spoil money. So take think it over, get to the building, talk with the people who want to use it. Then build a good elevator. So now you lost it.

Interviewer: Okay, overall, were you satisfied about this, of this discussion process?

Volunteer B: No. We had our discussion at the end of, uh, this park. We have McDonald's. Yeah, they were to build there, there wasn't a shop, which, which left, so they find a new rent part for the location.

So they found McDonald's ready for, to hire that location. But they have a lot of, wholesalers to the, uh, remove the, the well from the backing outreach. But it's not in our plan to build a fast food because we already have three in this area. On the scale Ofwhere in park, there are already three of these fast food shops. So we are a meeting with McDonald's cause they want to rent it, the investor, the local authorities, and the people who are in this neighborhood. So how, cause we were, we didn't agree with the development for another fast food shop because it was too much in our opinion.

Interviewer: So they wanted to build it here? I am kind of confused.

Volunteer B: at the end of the park there's a McDonald's.

Volunteer A: And the big shops. But, they have for the kitchen, the installations on the roof.

Interviewer: Okay. And you didn't want that here

Volunteer B: Because that wasn't in the plans? Environmental plans? Location. How we want to use it. How to run it. So we were against it. But they say as arguments, well, "we offer people a job."

and the government likes money from investments because it's gonna be used. They can offer jobs, and because this is a poor, area. So that's one win situation for the government.

Interviewer: And in the end they..?

Volunteer B: we were the losers because they already made the plans they should give it to McDonald's, even though we were against it.

So for the show, it looks like we are also discussing with them, but plans were already made. However, So that's why we thought, well politics are lying. They're just showing us that we are in participation, but not fully. Cause they're already listen. And hang up their ears on the table because there's coming big amount for it. Okay. So money is a big deal in this area.

Interviewer: So in that case, I wouldn't be satisfied for that.

Volunteer B: So people lose in some occasions. So we weren't happy.

Interviewer: Yeah, I understand. What would you recommend to the municipality for involving people?

Volunteer B: That they all should listen to the users and people in this area. Because they're standing with their feet on it. They're going to the park. They use it, they protect it.

Volunteer A: The really cooperate together, and work together. And it didn't feel on the same level. We, we can talk, they ask, what do you want?

And then they go back to the city hall and make their plans. And don't take the ideas of the people who live here seriously. They do their own plans.

Volunteer B: This is the big politic issue at the moment. There's a lot of confidence between the citizens and the, well, national, local authorities.

Because they prove you a lot, they are telling you, they give you a lot, but in the end, it's very small. Show us before we believe you. That's our stake at the moment. Show us. Don't promise us. Bring it to us.

Interviewer: So I see a little bit of dissatisfaction from you. Okay.

Volunteer B: Yeah, So that's why we are fighting every day to get it done our way. So you have to have a long breath to continue the speakings. And sometimes you win.

Volunteer A: It's too sad the city is very proud of..It's the first Rooftop park. It's the largest rooftop park in Europe. And now in all the pr they say it's important and we love it. But at the end, for us, as we want few things to make it better and to help us to arrange the neighborhood garden, we don't need very much money or support, but a little bit to arrange all the things we do. And then the city council is not helping us. So on one side, they are proud, saying they are proud of Park but the volunteers they don't support that, pretty much. that's the, the tension that there is. And okay, I love to work here and I love to come here.

Interviewer: but is your personal effort and not that the municipality.

Volunteer B: It's all ruined by volunteers. Nobody is a professional. Maybe one or two people at the park who are running it, but most of the people who are involved with it are volunteers, so they have beside that, a job, a regular job.

Interviewer: Yeah.

Volunteer B: Okay. But, uh, what we also notice that most of the people who are here working or well participating are original Dutch. We don't see a lot of people from Turkish or nationality or American people. There's a lot of Dutch people who are involved. So they're not the whole neighborhood is participating.

Interviewer: Okay. And do you see people from different age groups? **Volunteer B:** Uh, well, we have some youngers, but uh, in general it's more

elderly. Elderly people. So the fifties sixties. Interviewer: So there's not a lot of diversity.

Volunteer B: No, no. That, that situation goes well. You are also a youngster, You should have other priorities or interests.

Volunteer A: With Corona, it was different. Then we had a lot of young people, students.. The lockdown, they couldn't, they had to stay at home and the only thing you could do was working outside, that was allowed. So we had a lot of students and young people helping. But after Corona, now everyone is back to the basic.

Interviewer: Yeah. Yeah. Cause you need to have free time to do that.

Volunteer A: Now you can do a lot of other things. Go sports, go to the cafe, meet friends everywhere.

Interviewer: Okay. So that were my questions for you. Thank you very much for your time and your help if you like to add something about the part, your participation here, or would you like to say something more?

Volunteer A: I always tell kind of this story and it sounds, sometimes it sounds a bit sad, the frustration with the city hall people. But at the end it's nice. We have a park and it's a nice park. With little steps, with the help of the University of Wageningen.

Interviewer: Oh, they are involved too?

Volunteer A: No, they did a project for the biodiversity in cities, and this was one of the projects in study. they had helped us with a plan for more biodiversity. And that's, uh, the pruning of the hedge. That's the wild flat flower meadow to make it more bio diverse.

Volunteer A: It was not in first plan, uh, with. So when you making steps, by finding help, from other inspiration, a university or something, research to make the park better in a way we think it's better for the community and better for the environment. But it's always little steps we can make.

Volunteer B: Because sometimes we import ideas from other countries where it's already been developed. So well if we show 'em , if it really works, then we go in a discussion with the city hall.

Interviewer: Okay. if you see that something is effective Yes. Then you want to implement it.

Volunteer B: If it succeed, if it's possible in this area.. Then we try to get it.

Interviewer: Okay. I don't have any other questions. Okay. No. Thank you so much your research. Thank you. And I hope that, uh, we promote the, the park to other people

Appendix E

Interview with Landscape Architect B, designer of the Dakpark (Rotterdam Municipality)

Interviewer: Could you please describe your role and responsibilities as the Designer of the Dakpark?

Interviewee: In the beginning I supervised the external landscape designer. Rotterdam had asked an external designer to make a design. During the preliminary design of the park, the external designer turned out to be unable to make the design. He was out of hours, turned out not to be able to listen well to the client and residents, and was unable to stay within the set budget for the park. The external designer was then removed from the project, and I made the design. I made the design in consultation with the planning team and residents.

Interviewer: What was the municipality's motivation for constructing this park? Were there events/circumstances that made it necessary?

Interviewee: The reason was the disappearance of the marshalling yard. In the beginning, part of the shunting yard disappeared, but eventually the entire shunting yard. The underlying district needed a green living space and the port authority wanted to earn money from that land.

Interviewer: What were the key stakeholders involved in the design process?

Interviewee: Design process: developer of the building under the park, Port Authority, ProRail, municipality of rotterdam, residents, water board (due to dike), eneco (due to substantial district heating) Decision-making: municipality and port authority

Interviewer: What motivations have you observed among the other stakeholders involved in the design process? Were they concerned about the environment?

Interviewee: Everyone had their own interests. A very extensive and costly remediation has taken place.

Interviewer: Have you encountered any challenges while collaborating with the other stakeholders? If so, to what extent has this influenced the design process?

Interviewee: Lots of challenges. Expensive remediation, a park that was getting higher and higher and therefore more difficult to reach, a roof of a building that had to remain watertight, high costs to make the roof strong enough to support tall trees, residents who were afraid of bums and junkies in the park and therefore wanted the park to be lockable. Etc. As a result, a lengthy planning process with many adjustments to the design and many cutbacks.

Interviewer: Did you notice any resistance or skepticism towards the council's plans during the design process? If so, what factors contributed to that resistance and how did you address them?

Interviewee: Resistance from the port authority, colleagues and residents.

The Port Authority and colleagues thought it was a complicated plan and preferred a separate building and separate park on the ground. Residents preferred a normal park on the ground. Lots of

consultation. Take you step by step through the process. Making it clear that stacking from park to building was best for everyone.

Interviewer: How was the cooperation between the municipality and the other stakeholder facilitated? How were stakeholders involved in the design process?

Interviewee: An extensive planning team and an intensive participation process with residents, including a two-monthly roof park cafe.

Interviewer: How were stakeholders invited to participate in the design process? What strategies or tools did you employ to foster effective communication and collaboration among the various stakeholders throughout the design process?

Interviewee: Stakeholders such as developer and port authority through competition and many design studies and design studios. Residents through excursions, roof park cafes, residents interview at the market, design studios

Interviewer: How did you incorporate feedback and suggestions from the community into the park's design? Did this input significantly influence the outcome?

Interviewee: Had a major influence on the design. The design has mainly become simpler and more robust. Sometimes given the benefit of the doubt. Sometimes against my better judgement.

Interviewer: Looking back, how did the collaboration and shared decision-making contribute to the acceptance of the park by various stakeholders, including the community and other relevant parties?

Interviewee: The acceptance among all parties is and was ultimately very great. With the exception of the residents. Acceptance there was very high, but nowadays it is less or at least more diverse. Residents are very different and do not have 1 clear interest and opinion. During the planning process, we worked with the residents who lived there at the time. After the realization of the park, many new residents moved in, all of whom were able to buy expensive houses. This group of residents have their own ideas. The residents during the planning process were absolutely not interested in the underneath stores. As for those residents, you didn't have to be able to get to the shops from the park. Smart connections of the neighborhood and shops through the park have therefore all been removed from the plan. After the realization of the shops and the park, a large number of residents thought that the connection between the neighborhood and the shops was important, but optimization was no longer possible at that time.